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CoRpoRATe pRofiLe

�

computer and technologies holdings limited is one of the leading information technology (“it”) services providers in asia involved 
in the design, delivery and operation of total it solutions that meet customers’ business requirements.

the group has built its business for more than a decade on a vision to deliver competitive advantages for enterprises and 
government organizations to progress by optimizing their information systems efficiency. founded in 1991, the group’s 
headquarters is based in hong Kong with regional operations throughout mainland china and taiwan. Offices as well as support 
and software development centers have also been established in major commercial regions of mainland china such as beijing, 
shanghai, nanjing and shenzhen.

the group has a long-standing track record in delivering world-class innovative projects and implementing large-scale mission-
critical it solutions. building on its successful track records, the group has expanded into an all-rounded it services provider with a 
synergetic portfolio of subsidiaries.
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CHAiRmAn's sTATemenT

�

dear shareholders,

i am glad to report that the group’s consolidated revenue for the reporting period increased substantially by 51.1% to hK$358.7 
million (2006: hK$237.4 million). the consolidated net profit after tax attributable to shareholders surged 126.8% to hK$28.1 
million (2006: hK$12.4 million). the improved profits attributed to the strong sales growth in integration service business in china 
and the improved profit contribution from the recurring revenue in it outsourcing, e-services and software maintenance services.

during the year, group repurchased approximately 2.4 million shares on an average price of hK$0.939 per share. the earnings per 
share for the year, after taken the effect of the share repurchase, was amounted to 10.63 hong Kong cents (2006: 4.61 hong Kong 
cents), representing an increase of 130.6%.

as of the reporting day, the group’s order book is kept at a balance of approximately hK$323 million of which over 60% are service-
oriented contracts.

the group generated hK$38.2 million cash inflow from its operations in 2007 and maintained a strong financial position. the 
board recommended to distribute a final dividend of 6 hong Kong cents per share (2006: 3 hong Kong cents). the increase in the 
dividend payout ratio revealed the group’s strong financial position and confidence in its long-term prospects.

pRospeCT

With the revealed value of its business transformation, the group will continue to benefit from the strong recurring income generated 
from its long-term outsourcing service contracts on-hand and its established e-business services. While the operation efficiency for 
provision of such services is being improved, it will generate stable cash flow and profit contribution to the group.

the strong economic growth in china had been generating tremendous demand across industries on high quality it services from 
the group. many of the group’s long-time customers, who are also the market leaders in their respective industries, have been 
continuously entrusting the group’s expertise in helping them to expand and enhance their it infrastructure and applications for the 
enlarged markets in china. While the group will continue to benefit from its established business network and high quality customer 
base in the mainland, the group will invest further to capture more businesses from the fast growing market in china.

the business demands for the group’s human resource management system (“hrms”) remain strong. the management has been 
realigning and strengthening the related resources in order to improve the performance of the related business. the group will also 
dedicate additional resource to accelerate the development of new products to enlarge the group’s long-term income from license 
fee and related maintenance incomes.

leveraging the strong talents pool from china and the acquisition of y&a professional services limited (“y&a”) in 2006, the group 
enlarged its capability and competitiveness in its software development and support service. the enlarged team, had been allowing 
the group to capture additional software development service businesses from both the government and commercial sectors in 
hong Kong and overseas.

coupled with strong financial position and successful experiences in integrating high quality talents brought-in through acquisitions, 
the group will continue to explore merger and acquisition opportunities in order to achieve better business scale and profitability.
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AppReCiATion

On behalf of the board and the management, i would like to express our deep appreciations to all staffs, shareholders and business 
partners for their supports to the group during the reporting period.

ng Cheung shing
Chairman
hong Kong, 15 april 2008
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mAnAGemenT DisCUssion AnD AnALYsis

Review of operations
for the reporting period, the overall revenue increased 51.1% to hK$358.7 million (2006: hK$237.4 million). revenue from 
the integration and solutions services segment increased significantly by 80.9% and contributed 77.7% of the group’s overall 
revenue. application services and distribution business contributed 13.5% and 8.4% respectively of the group’s overall revenue as 
compared with 21.9% and 12.6% respectively in 2006.

the overall gross profit margin was 30.2% (2006: 35.6%), and the gross profit increased by 28.5% amounting to hK$108.5 million 
(2006: hK$84.4 million). the overall gross profit margin was pulled down due to the increased sales of third parties products 
generated from the group’s integration services business in mainland china.

during the year, despite certain provisions for impairment and certain accruals amounting to approximately hK$9.2 million were 
made for certain receivables and some expenses related to a particular legal proceeding, the group recorded a net profit attributable 
to shareholders of hK$28.1 million, representing an increase of 126.8%. the growth in profit was mainly attributed to the strong 
performance of the network integration business in mainland china as well as the improved profit contribution from the recurring 
revenue in it outsourcing and e-business services as a result of improved operation efficiency.

as of the reporting date, the amount of orders on hand was approximately hK$323 million (2006: approximately hK$280 million) of 
which over 60% are software and service related contracts.

the group consistently generated hK$38.2 million net cash inflows from operations (2006: hK$20.9 million) reflecting the rightful 
direction in transforming the business into a healthy service-oriented model with strong recurring income which the management 
has been continuously aiming for.

the group continued to maintain a strong financial position with no debt and had cash and bank balances of approximately 
hK$190.3 million as of 31 december 2007, representing an increase of hK$26.5 million from the same time previous year. the 
reported cash and bank position had already taken the effects of the dividend payment of approximately hK$8.0 million in June 
2007 and also the accumulated considerations of hK$2.2 million paid for the share buyback during the reporting period.

benefiting from the strong economic growth of mainland china and hong Kong, the integration and solutions services segment 
achieved a remarkable growth in revenue by 80.9% compared with the same period of last year. the growth mainly resulted from 
the sales of additional infrastructure system upgrades to the existing customers in mainland china, particularly the booming financial 
service sector, to support their business expansions to cope with the surging demands. the group also expanded its prestigious 
customer base by continuously winning new contracts from some multinational corporations that established their operations 
in mainland china. during the year, the group managed to increase not only the overall revenue of the segment but also more 
importantly the portion in service components which in turn would help the group in customers’ loyalties cultivations. furthermore, 
the group is expanding its sales and support resources in the segment so as to timely and aggressively capture the ample business 
opportunities in mainland china.

On top of receiving strong recurring revenue from its existing outsourcing service contracts with the hong Kong sar government 
(the “hKsar government”), the group also managed to secure new service orders from commercial and public sector customers 
in hong Kong during the reporting period. the merger of the technical resources from y&a, which the group acquired in the prior 
year and other related business units had resulted in an improvement of business scale and also operation efficiency which fuel up 
the overall performances of the segment.
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the group’s e-services, namely government electronic trading services (“gets”) and electronic tendering system (“ets”), had 
been generating stable transaction and subscription-based income for the group. With the business scale progressively building up, 
the e-services business generated moderated growth in both revenue and profit contributions.

the group’s gets license has been extended to end of 2009 by the hKsar government. the management is working closely with 
the hKsar government and optimistic that the gets license will be extended beyond.

during the reporting period, it came to the notice of the management that a former senior employee who used to be in charged of 
the group’s hrms business was severely in breach of his contractual commitments and fiduciary duties toward the group. for 
the protection of the interest of stakeholders and for the prevention of further damages, the group through its subsidiaries has 
taken legal proceedings against this former senior employee. an injunction order was granted by the high court of the hong Kong 
sar in december 2007 to restrict this former senior employee from causing further damage to the group. the injunction order is 
continuously enforceable until the conclusion of the case. as of the reporting date, the legal proceeding is still underway.

such an unexpected event together with high staff turnover during the period had severely impacted the performance of the group’s 
hrms business. the resulting hindrance on the project delivery schedules led to delay in revenue booking. nevertheless, the 
group continued to record increasing maintenance income from the hrms customer base that reveals the long-term value of such 
business. during the reporting period, the management expedited efforts to realign and strengthen the related technical resources. it is 
anticipated that the group will get over the turbulent very soon.

the group’s distribution business recorded a slight growth in revenue. While its loss had been narrowed, the overall results 
remained unsatisfactory in 2007. the latest introduction of products related to high definition broadcasting market generated 
positive feedbacks from the market. the management would monitor the market consciously to capture this emerging and 
promising opportunity.

pLeDGe of AsseTs AnD ConTinGenT LiABiLiTies

at 31 december 2007, the group had pledged certain of its investment properties with a carrying value of hK$17.5 million 
(2006: hK$14.5 million) and bank balances of hK$16.7 million (2006: hK$11.7 million) to secure certain general bank facilities, 
guarantee/performance bonds facilities granted to the group in aggregate of hK$30.5 million (2006: hK$45.0 million) of which 
hK$4.6 million (2006: hK$12.4 million) had been utilised as of the balance sheet date.

finAnCiAL ResoURCes AnD LiqUiDiTY

as at 31 december 2007, the group’s cash and bank balances (excluding pledged bank deposits of hK$16.7 million) was 
hK$190.3 million (2006: hK$163.8 million) with no bank borrowings.

approximately 98% of the group’s on hand funding is denominated in hong Kong dollar, renminbi and us dollar. the group has 
not adopted any hedging policies, as these currencies carry low exchange fluctuation risks.

RemUneRATion poLiCY AnD nUmBeR of empLoYees

the remuneration policies adopted for the year ended 31 december 2007 are consistent with those disclosed in the group’s 
2006 annual report. as at 31 december 2007, the group employed approximately 346 full time employees and 1 contract based 
employee (31 december 2006: 363 full time and 1 contract-based employees).



DiReCToRs AnD senioR mAnAGemenT

�

eXeCUTiVe DiReCToRs

ir. ng Cheung shing, aged 46, the founder, chairman and chief executive Officer, is responsible for the business development, 
corporate strategies, company policies and overall management of the group. ir. ng graduated with b.sc (hons) in computer 
science from university of manchester in the united Kingdom in 1984, and has over 20 years of experience in it industry. before 
establishing the company, ir. ng held senior positions in companies such as hewlett-packard asia pacific ltd. and sun hung Kai 
(china) ltd. ir. ng is a fellow member of hong Kong computer society and hong Kong institution of engineers. he is the founding 
chairman of the hong Kong information and software industry association, chairman of technology and information committee of 
the chinese general chamber of commerce, member of digital 21 strategy advisory committee of the hKsar government, and 
member of the advisory committee for the department of computing of the hong Kong polytechnic university and the department 
of electronic engineering of the city university of hong Kong. ir. ng was also the awardee of “young industrialist awards of 
hongkong” and the “ten Outstanding young persons award of hong Kong”.

mr. Leung King san, sunny, aged 47, who joined the group in 1997, is responsible for policy making, finance and administration 
strategies of the group. he is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the group. mr. leung has over 20 years of experience in 
finance, administration and planning in the it industry. before joining the group, mr. leung held senior management positions in 
ibm and its associated company in asia pacific. mr. leung graduated from simon fraser university in canada with a bachelor’s 
degree in business administration in 1983.

mr. ma mok Hoi, Tony, aged 51, who joined the group in 1994, is in charge of the group’s distribution business. mr. ma has 
over 20 years of experience in distribution and customer service businesses in the it field. he graduated from the hong Kong 
polytechnic with a higher diploma and an associateship in electronic engineering in 1980 and 1981 respectively. he also obtained a 
diploma in management studies from the hong Kong management association in 1989.
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inDepenDenT non-eXeCUTiVe DiReCToRs

mr. Ha shu Tong, aged 59, joined the board in 1998. mr. ha has involved in the financial industry for over 30 years and has 
substantial experience in corporate finance and corporate development. he is now an executive director of m dream inworld limited 
(stock code: 8100).

professor matthew K.o. Lee, ph.D., aged 48, joined the board in 1998. professor lee is associate dean (research and postgraduate) 
of the faculty of business and chair professor of information systems and e-commerce at the city university of hong Kong (the 
“university”). professor lee is also the founding director of the dba programme at the university. he holds a number of university 
degrees including beng (1st class honours) in electronic engineering, ms c in software engineering, ph.d. in computer science, 
mba, llb, and llm in corporate and commercial law. he is a graduate of the internet law summer program at harvard law 
school. professor lee has substantial experience and published widely in law and it matters and is a professional member of the 
british computer society. he is qualified as a chartered engineer (uK engineering council) and a barrister-at-law both in hong 
Kong sar and england & Wales. professor lee was a founding vice-chairman of the hong Kong computer society e-business 
special interest group. professor lee is an assessor of the innovative and technology commission for it and electronics projects. 
he has been appointed by the chief executive of the hKsar government to serve as an appeal board member under the 
unsolicited electronic messages Ordinance. he is a member of the advisory committee on human resources development in the 
financial services sector.

mr. Ting Leung Huel, stephen, mh , fcca , fcpa (practising), aca , ftihK, fhKiod, aged 54, joined the board in 2004. mr. ting 
is an accountant in public practice as managing partner of messrs. ting ho Kwan & chan, certified public accountants since 1987. 
mr. ting is a member of the 9th & 10th chinese people political & consultative conference, fujian. he is now a non-executive 
director of chow sang sang holdings international limited (stock code: 116) and holds independent non-executive directorship in 
six other listed companies namely, dongyue group limited (stock code: 189), Jlf investment company limited (stock code: 472), 
minmetals resources limited (stock code: 1208), texhong textile group limited (stock code: 2678), tong ren tang technologies 
company limited (stock code: 8069) and tongda group holdings limited (stock code: 698).
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senioR mAnAGemenT

mr. Cheung Wai Lam, Derek, aged 44, is the principal consultant of y&a professional services limited (“y&a”). mr. cheung has 
over 21 years of experience in it and consulting business ranging from software development to enterprise solutions implementation 
and is one of the founders of y&a. mr. cheung joined the group in 2006 when y&a became a subsidiary of the group. before y&a, 
he held various consulting positions in ibm in hong Kong and australia. mr. cheung graduated from the chinese university of hong 
Kong with a bachelor’s degree in computer science in 1985.

mr. ng Kwok Keung, aged 34, is the financial controller of the group and the secretary of the company. he has over 10 years of 
experience in accounting, auditing, finance, and business advisory. before joining the group, he was a financial controller of a hong 
Kong listed company and has worked as a manager of assurance and advisory business services department of an international 
accounting firm. mr. ng graduated from the hong Kong polytechnic university with a bachelor of arts (honours) degree in 
accountancy and is a certified public accountant of the hong Kong institute of certified public accountants.

mr. Wang Zhi Hui, aged 44, is the senior director of c&t integration limited. mr. Wang joined the group in 1996. he has over 18 
years of experience in the it industry with extensive sales management exposure in working for multinational companies such as 
hp china and Wang computer. mr. Wang graduated from the east china university of science and technology with a bachelor 
degree in electronic engineering in 1986.

mr. Wong Wai man, Raymond, aged 43, managing consultant of ipl research limited (“ipl”), is in charge of the group’s human 
resource management solutions (hrms) business. mr. Wong has almost 20 years of experience in it service industry and human 
resource management practices. before joining ipl in 1993, he had extensive practices as hrm practitioner in multinational 
enterprises. mr. Wong joined the group in 2001 when ipl became a subsidiary of the group.

mr. Yan King shun, peter, aged 46, is in charge of the group’s solutions and e-services business. mr. yan has over 22 years of 
experience in the it industry. before joining the group in 2000, mr. yan was the chief Operating Officer of tradelink electronic 
commerce ltd. he also held senior management positions in large it and electronic services companies including accenture. mr. 
yan graduated from the chinese university of hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in 1985 and received 
executive education for global leadership from the harvard business school in 1998.

mr. Yeung sai Cheong, steve, aged 42, is the vice president of corporate development and communications of the group and is 
responsible for investor relationship and business development including merger and acquisition activities, and other corporate 
communications. mr. yeung joined the group in 1998, and has about 20 years of it experience in sales and business development. 
he graduated from the university of hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in computer studies in 1988 and received a master’s 
degree in business administration from the hong Kong university of science and technology in 1999.
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the company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis 
on the principles of integrity, transparency and accountability. the board of directors of the company (the “board”) believes that 
good corporate governance is essential to the success of the company and to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

the board opined that the company has complied with the code provision set out in the code of corporate governance practice 
(the “cg code”) as stipulated in appendix 14 of the rules governing the listing of securities On the stock exchange of hong Kong 
limited (“listing rules”) during the reporting year except on the deviations noted below.

the cg code provision a.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 
performed by the same individual. the company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer and mr. ng cheung 
shing currently holds both positions. the board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the 
same individual provides the group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for more effective and efficient planning and 
execution of long-term business strategies.

the cg code provision a.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-
election. independent non-executive directors of the company do not have a specific term of appointment but are subject to 
retirement by rotation in accordance with the provisions of the bye-laws of the company. the company therefore considers that 
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that its corporate governance practices are similar to those provided in the cg code.

THe BoARD ComposiTion

the board comprises three executive directors and three independent non-executive directors:

executive directors:
ng cheung shing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
leung King san, sunny
ma mok hoi

independent non-executive directors:
ha shu tong
lee Kwok On, matthew
ting leung huel, stephen

One-third of the directors shall retire from office at every annual general meeting and all directors (including non-executive directors) 
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three year in accordance with the company’s bye-laws and the cg code.

the directors’ biographical information is set out in the “biographies of directors and senior management” section on pages 8 to 
10.



CoRpoRATe GoVeRnAnCe RepoRT
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pRinCipAL fUnCTions

the board has the ultimate decision on the group’s overall strategy, annual budget, annual and interim results, appointment or 
retirement of directors, significant contracts and transactions as well as other significant policy and financial matters. the board has 
delegated the daily operations and administration to the company’s management.

every director is entitled to have access to board papers and related materials and has access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary. in addition, every director has separate and independent access to the company’s senior management 
to facilitate them to make informed decisions. all directors, in the discharge of their duties, are allowed to seek independent 
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the company.

in order to achieve a high standard of corporate governance, the board held four regularly meetings at approximately quarterly 
interval during the year 2007 to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operational matters and financial performance of the 
group. attendance of each director at the board meetings is set out below:

 number of Board meetings
 Attended/eligible to attend

executive directors:
ng cheung shing 4/4
leung King san, sunny 4/4
ma mok hoi  4/4

independent non-executive directors:
ha shu tong 4/4
lee Kwok On, matthew 4/4
ting leung huel, stephen 4/4

BoARD CommiTTees

to strengthen the functions of the board, there are two board committees namely, the audit committee and remuneration 
committee formed under the board, with each performing different functions.

RemUneRATion CommiTTee

the remuneration committee was established on 22 september 2004 and comprises of three independent non-executive directors, 
namely, ha shu tong, lee Kwok On, matthew, and ting leung huel, stephen and two executive directors namely, ng cheung 
shing and leung King san, sunny.
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RemUneRATion CommiTTee (ConTinUeD)

the primary functions of the remuneration committee include:

• to review and recommend to the board, in consultation the chairman and chief executive officer, the remuneration policy and 
packages of the directors and senior management;

• to review and recommend the performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by 
the board from time to time;

• to review and recommend the compensation payable to executive directors and senior management in connection with any 
loss of termination of their office or appointment;

• to review and recommend compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct; and

• to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

the remuneration committee shall meet at least once every year. One meeting was convened during the year and all the committee 
members had attended.

AUDiT CommiTTee

the audit committee was established on 24 april 1999 and during the reporting period, the three independent non-executive 
directors, namely, ha shu tong, lee Kwok On, matthew, and ting leung huel, stephen are the members of the committee and mr. 
ting was elected as the chairman of audit committee.

the principal duties and roles of the audit committee include:

• to consider and recommend to the board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors, and to 
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of resignation of dismissal of 
that auditors;

• to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence and objectivity;

• to develop and implement policy on the engagement of external auditors to supply non-audit services;

• to review the financial information of the group, which includes, annual report and interim report;

• to review the group’s financial controls, internal controls and risk management systems; and

• to review the external auditors’ management letters and management’s response.

during the year, the audit committee meets two times and all the members of audit committee attended both meetings.



CoRpoRATe GoVeRnAnCe RepoRT

��

AUDiToRs’ RemUneRATion

during the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the company’s independent auditors, ernst & young, amounted hK$1,524,000 
in respect of audit services. there have been no non-audit services rendered by the company’s independent auditors during the 
year.

moDeL CoDe foR seCURiTies TRAnsACTions

the company has adopted the model code as set out in appendix 10 of the listing rules as its code of conduct for dealings in 
securities of the company by the directors. based on a specific enquiry of the company’s directors, the directors have complied 
with the required standard set out in the model code throughout the year.

to comply with the cg code a.5.4, the company has also adopted the model code as its code of conduct for dealings in securities 
of the company by certain employees of the company or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely to be in possession 
of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the company or its securities.

CommUniCATion WiTH sHAReHoLDeRs

information of the company and the group are delivered to its shareholders through a number of channels, which includes annual 
report, interim report, announcements and circulars. the latest information of the company and the group together with the 
published documents are also available on the company’s website.

inTeRnAL ConTRoL

during the year, the board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group. the review covers all material 
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of the group. no material internal 
control aspects of any significant problems were noted. the board was satisfied that the internal control system of the group has 
been functioned effectively during the review year.

ACCoUnTABiLiTY AnD AUDiT

the directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the group and have adopted the accounting 
principles generally accepted in hong Kong and complied with the requirements of hong Kong financial reporting standards (which 
include all hong Kong accounting standards and interpretations) issued by the hong Kong institute of certified public accountants 
and the disclosure requirements of the hong Kong companies Ordinance.

the reporting responsibilities of the company’s independent auditors are set out in the independent auditors’ report on pages 24 
and 25.
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the directors herein present their report together with the audited financial statements of the company and the group for the year 
ended 31 december 2007.

pRinCipAL ACTiViTies

the principal activity of the company is investment holding. details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out 
in note 17 to the financial statements. there were no changes in the nature of the group’s principal activities during the year.

ResULTs AnD DiViDenDs

the group’s profit for the year ended 31 december 2007 and the state of affairs of the company and the group at that date are set 
out in the financial statements on pages 26 to 98.

the directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of hK$0.06 per ordinary share in respect of the year to shareholders on 
the register of members on 22 may 2008. this recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements as an allocation 
of retained earnings within the equity section of the balance sheet.

sUmmARY finAnCiAL infoRmATion

a summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and minority interests of the group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 100. this summary 
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

pRopeRTY, pLAnT AnD eqUipmenT AnD inVesTmenT pRopeRTies

details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and investment properties of the group during the year are set out in 
notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements, respectively. further details of the group’s investment properties are set out on page 
99.

sHARe CApiTAL AnD sHARe opTions

details of movements in the share capital and share options of the company during the year are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the 
financial statements, respectively.

pRe-empTiVe RiGHTs

there are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s bye-laws or the laws of bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which 
the company is incorporated, which would oblige the company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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pURCHAse, ReDempTion oR sALe of LisTeD seCURiTies of THe CompAnY

during the year, the company repurchased certain of its shares on the stock exchange of hong Kong limited (the “stock 
exchange”) and these shares were subsequently cancelled by the company. the share repurchase has enhanced the net asset 
value per share and the earnings per share, which the directors believe is in the best interests of the company and the shareholders. 
further details of these transactions are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

except as disclosed above, neither the company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the company’s 
listed securities during the year.

ReseRVes

details of movements in the reserves of the company and the group during the year are set out in note 31(b) to the financial 
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DisTRiBUTABLe ReseRVes

at 31 december 2007, the company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the 
bermuda companies act 1981, amounted to hK$46,264,000, of which hK$15,804,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for 
the year. in addition, the company’s share premium account, in the amount of hK$237,452,000 may be distributed in the form of 
fully paid bonus shares.

mAjoR CUsTomeRs AnD sUppLieRs

in the year under review, sales to the group’s five largest customers accounted for 46.4% of the total sales for the year and sales to 
the largest customer included therein amounted to 15.9%. purchases from the group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 80.5% 
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 32.2%.

none of the directors of the company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, 
own more than 5% of the company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the group’s five largest customers and 
suppliers.
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DiReCToRs

the directors of the company during the year were:

executive directors:
ng cheung shing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
leung King san, sunny
ma mok hoi

independent non-executive directors:
ha shu tong
lee Kwok On, matthew
ting leung huel, stephen

in accordance with bye-law 87 of the company’s bye-laws, leung King san, sunny, and ting leung huel, stephen will retire by 
rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

the independent non-executive directors have not been appointed for a specific term, but are subject to retirement by rotation 
pursuant to the company’s bye-laws.

the company has received annual confirmations of independence from ha shu tong, lee Kwok On, matthew, and ting leung 
huel, stephen, and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DiReCToRs’ AnD senioR mAnAGemenT’s BioGRApHies

biographical details of the directors of the company and the senior management of the group are set out on pages 8 to 10 of the 
annual report.

DiReCToRs’ seRViCe ConTRACTs

each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the company since 1 april 1998. these service contracts 
will continue until terminated by either party by serving to the other party a written notice of not less than three months prior to the 
effective date of termination. as at the date of this report, no termination notice by either party had been received.

apart from the foregoing, no directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 
with the company which is not determinable by the company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory 
compensation.
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DiReCToRs’ RemUneRATion

the directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the company’s 
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the group. in addition, the 
directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the remuneration committee annually.

DiReCToRs’ inTeResTs in ConTRACTs

no director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the group to 
which the company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DiReCToRs’ inTeResTs AnD sHoRT posiTions in sHARes AnD UnDeRLYinG sHARes

as at 31 december 2007, the interests of the directors in the share capital and underlying shares of the company and its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of part Xv of the securities and futures Ordinance (the “sfO”)), as recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the company pursuant to section 352 of the sfO, or as otherwise notified to the company and the stock 
exchange pursuant to the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

 number of shares held,
 capacity and nature of interest percentage
  of the
  Directly  Through    Company’s
  beneficially  controlled    issued
name of director note owned  corporation  Total  share capital

ng cheung shing (a) 2,032,000  110,000,000  112,032,000  42.53
leung King san, sunny  810,000  –  810,000  0.31
ma mok hoi  209,000  –  209,000  0.08        

  3,051,000  110,000,000  113,051,000  42.92        
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DiReCToRs’ inTeResTs AnD sHoRT posiTions in sHARes AnD UnDeRLYinG sHARes (ConTinUeD)

Long positions in shares of associated corporations:

  percentage
  of the
 number of shares associated
 name of Relationship  Directly Through corporation’s
name of associated with the Class of beneficially controlled issued
director corporation Company shares owned corporation share capital

ng cheung shing computer and company’s non-voting 1,750,000 3,250,000 n/a
 technologies subsidiary deferred  (note (b))
 international
 limited

ma mok hoi maxfair company’s Ordinary 25 – 25
 technology subsidiary
 holdings
 limited

notes:

(a) the 110,000,000 shares were held by chao lien technologies limited (“chao lien”). mr. ng cheung shing was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 
one-third or more of the voting power at general meetings of c.s. (bvi) limited which, in turn, was entitled to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or more 
of the voting power at general meetings of chao lien. accordingly, mr. ng cheung shing was deemed, under the sfO, to be interested in all shares held by chao 
lien.

(b) the 3,250,000 non-voting deferred shares were held by chao lien.

save as disclosed above, as at 31 december 2007, none of the directors had registered an interest or a short position in the shares 
or underlying shares of the company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 
of the sfO, or as otherwise notified to the company and the stock exchange pursuant to the model code for securities transactions 
by directors of listed issuers.

DiReCToRs’ RiGHTs To ACqUiRe sHARes oR DeBenTURes

save as disclosed in the section “share option schemes” below, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means 
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the company granted to any director or their respective spouse or minor children, 
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the 
directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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sHARe opTion sCHemes

the company operates two share option schemes (the “schemes”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives and rewards to 
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the group’s operations. further details of the schemes are disclosed in note 30 
to the financial statements.

the following table discloses movements in the company’s share options outstanding during the year:

  price of the Company’s shares***
 number of share options Date   exercise  At  immediately  At
 At   exercised   At   of grant   price  exercise   before the   grant
name or category 1 january   during   31 December   of share  exercise period  of share   date of  exercise   date of
of participant 2007  the year  2007  options * of share options options **  options  date  options *
         hK$  hK$  hK$  hK$
         per share  per share  per share  per share

Directors

ng cheung shing 300,000  –  300,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09
leung King san, sunny 200,000  –  200,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09
ma mok hoi 150,000  –  150,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09
ha shu tong 100,000  –  100,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09
lee Kwok On, matthew 100,000  –  100,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09
ting leung huel, stephen 100,000  –  100,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09     
 950,000  –  950,000     

other employees

in aggregate 1,506,000  (138,000 ) 1,368,000  31.08.2004 01.03.2005 to 31.08.2009 1.128  n/a  n/a  1.09     
total 2,456,000  (138,000 ) 2,318,000     

notes to the reconciliation of share options outstanding during the year:

* the vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

** the exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the company’s share capital.

*** the price of the company’s shares disclosed as at the date of grant of the share options is the stock exchange closing price on the trading day immediately prior 
to the date of grant of the options. the price of the company’s shares disclosed immediately before the exercise date of the share options is the weighted average 
of the stock exchange closing prices immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised over all of the exercises of options within the disclosure 
line.
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sUBsTAnTiAL sHAReHoLDeRs’ AnD oTHeR peRsons’ inTeResTs in sHARes AnD UnDeRLYinG sHARes

as at 31 december 2007, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital and share options of the company were 
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the company pursuant to section 336 of the sfO:

Long positions:
     percentage
     of the
  Capacity number of  Company’s  number
  and nature ordinary  issued  of share
name of shareholder of the Company notes of interest shares held  share capital  options held

chao lien technologies limited (a) directly 110,000,000  41.76  –
  beneficially
  owned

c.s. (bvi) limited (a) through a 110,000,000  41.76  –
  controlled
  corporation

puttney investments limited (“pil”) (b) directly 29,148,938  11.07  –
  beneficially
  owned

hutchison international limited (“hil”) (b) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
  controlled
  corporation

hutchison Whampoa limited (“hWl”) (b) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
  controlled
  corporation

cheung Kong (holdings) limited (“cKh”) (b), (c) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
  controlled
  corporation

li Ka-shing unity trustee company (b), (c) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
 limited (“tut1”)  controlled
  corporation

li Ka-shing unity trustee corporation (b), (c) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
 limited (“tdt1”)  controlled
  corporation
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sUBsTAnTiAL sHAReHoLDeRs’ AnD oTHeR peRsons’ inTeResTs in sHARes AnD UnDeRLYinG sHARes 
(ConTinUeD)

     percentage
     of the
  Capacity number of  Company’s  number
  and nature ordinary  issued  of share
name of shareholder of the Company notes of interest shares held  share capital  options held

li Ka-shing unity trustcorp limited  (b), (c) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
 (“tdt2”)  controlled
  corporation

li Ka-shing (b), (c) through a 29,148,938  11.07  –
  controlled
  corporation

hui yau man  directly 26,782,000  10.17  –
  beneficially
  owned

notes:

(a) the interest was also disclosed as an interest of mr. ng cheung shing in the section “directors’ interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares” of 
this report.

(b) pil is a wholly-owned subsidiary of hil, which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of hWl. by virtue of the sfO, hWl and hil were deemed to be interested in 
the 29,148,938 shares of the company held by pil.

(c) li Ka-shing unity holdings limited (“tuhl”), of which each of li Ka-shing, li tzar Kuoi, victor, and li tzar Kai, richard, is interested in one-third of the entire 
issued share capital, owns the entire issued share capital of tut1. tut1 as trustee of the li Ka-shing unity trust, together with certain companies which tut1 as 
trustee of the li Ka-shing unity trust is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power at their general meetings, hold more 
than one-third of the issued share capital of cKh. subsidiaries of cKh are entitled to exercise or control the exercise of more than one-third of the voting power at 
general meetings of hWl.

in addition, tuhl also owns the entire issued share capital of tdt1 as trustee of the li Ka-shing unity discretionary trust (“dt1”) and tdt2 as trustee of 
another discretionary trust (“dt2”). each of tdt1 and tdt2 holds units in the li Ka-shing unity trust.

by virtue of the sfO, each of li Ka-shing, being the settlor and may being regarded as a founder of dt1 and dt2 for the purpose of the sfO, tdt1, tdt2, tut1 
and cKh were deemed to be interested in the 29,148,938 shares of the company held by pil.

save as disclosed above, as at 31 december 2007, no person, other than the directors of the company, whose interests are set out 
in the section “directors’ interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or a short 
position in the shares or underlying shares of the company that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the sfO.
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ConTinGenT LiABiLiTies

details of the contingent liabilities of the company and the group are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

sUffiCienCY of pUBLiC fLoAT

based on information that is publicly available to the company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the 
company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDiToRs

ernst & young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

On behalf Of the bOard

ng Cheung shing
Chairman
hong Kong, 15 april 2008
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To THe sHAReHoLDeRs of CompUTeR AnD TeCHnoLoGies HoLDinGs LimiTeD
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of computer and technologies holdings limited set out on pages 26 to 98, which 
comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 december 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DiReCToRs’ ResponsiBiLiTY foR THe finAnCiAL sTATemenTs

the directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with hong Kong financial reporting standards issued by the hong Kong institute of certified public accountants 
and the disclosure requirements of the hong Kong companies Ordinance. this responsibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDiToRs’ ResponsiBiLiTY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, 
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the bermuda companies act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with hong Kong standards on auditing issued by the hong Kong institute of certified 
public accountants. those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
the procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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opinion

in our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31 
december 2007 and of the group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with hong Kong financial reporting 
standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the hong Kong companies 
Ordinance.

ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

18th floor
two international finance centre
8 finance street, central
hong Kong

15 april 2008
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ConsoLiDATeD inCome sTATemenT
year ended 31 december 2007

 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

ReVenUe 5 358,738  237,362

cost of sales  (250,268 ) (152,930 )    

gross profit  108,470  84,432

Other income and gains 5 18,549  15,784
selling and distribution costs  (42,780 ) (40,275 )
general and administrative expenses  (47,685 ) (40,915 )
Other expenses, net  (7,705 ) (5,246 )    

pRofiT BefoRe TAX 6 28,849  13,780

tax 9 (878 ) (1,933 )    

pRofiT foR THe YeAR  27,971  11,847    

attributable to:
 equity holders of the parent 10 28,142  12,408
 minority interests  (171 ) (561 )    

  27,971  11,847    

DiViDenD 11
 proposed final  15,804  7,950    

eARninGs peR sHARe ATTRiBUTABLe To oRDinARY eqUiTY
 HoLDeRs of THe pARenT 12 HK cents  hK cents

 basic  10.63  4.61    

 diluted  n/A  n/a    
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 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

non-CURRenT AsseTs
property, plant and equipment 13 9,902  13,515
investment properties 14 29,047  22,012
goodwill 15 25,813  23,900
Other intangible assets 16 –  2,066
held-to-maturity securities 18 498  1,265
available-for-sale investments 19 2,587  1,796
pledged bank deposits 25 –  3,110
deferred tax assets 28 5,632  2,000    

total non-current assets  73,479  69,664    

CURRenT AsseTs
held-to-maturity securities 18 767  –
inventories 20 11,709  12,870
trade receivables 21 82,887  45,180
prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 7,984  7,193
due from contract customers 23 24,397  59,052
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 24 5,710  5,968
tax recoverable  218  601
pledged bank deposits 25 16,677  8,566
cash and cash equivalents 25 190,348  163,822    

total current assets  340,697  303,252    

CURRenT LiABiLiTies
trade payables, other payables and accruals 26 65,427  50,698
due to contract customers 23 1,377  950
deferred income  10,009  7,764
due to a director 27 2,150  2,150
tax payable  5,145  1,740    

total current liabilities  84,108  63,302    

neT CURRenT AsseTs  256,589  239,950    

ToTAL AsseTs Less CURRenT LiABiLiTies  330,068  309,614    
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ConsoLiDATeD BALAnCe sHeeT (ConTinUeD)
31 december 2007

 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

ToTAL AsseTs Less CURRenT LiABiLiTies  330,068  309,614    

non-CURRenT LiABiLiTies
deferred tax liabilities 28 773  –    

total non-current liabilities  773  –    

net assets  329,295  309,614    

eqUiTY
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
issued capital 29 26,340  26,561
reserves 31(a) 286,272  274,046
proposed final dividend 11 15,804  7,950    

  328,416  308,557
minority interests  879  1,057    

total equity  329,295  309,614    

ng Cheung shing Leung King san, sunny
Director Director
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 Attributable to equity holders of the parent 
            Available-
            for-sale        proposed
    share    share    investment    exchange    final and
  issued  premium  Contributed  option  Goodwill  revaluation  Reserve  fluctuation  Retained  special    minority  Total
 notes capital  account  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  funds  reserve  profits  dividends  Total  interests  equity
  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000
      (note 31(a))    (note 31(a))    (note 31(a))

at 1 January 2006  26,950  237,310  41,349  1,144  (7,227 ) (250 ) –  (2,411 ) 1,144  8,085  306,094  1,070  307,164

exchange realignment  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  488  –  –  488  68  556
changes in fair value of
 available-for-sale investments  –  –  –  –  –  551  –  –  –  –  551  –  551                          

total income and expense
 recognised directly in equity  –  –  –  –  –  551  –  488  –  –  1,039  68  1,107
profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  12,408  –  12,408  (561 ) 11,847                          

total income and expense 
 for the year  –  –  –  –  –  551  –  488  12,408  –  13,447  (493 ) 12,954
repurchase of shares 29 (389 ) –  (2,510 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (2,899 ) –  (2,899 )
capital contributed by minority
 shareholders of a subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  480  480
transfer to reserve funds  –  –  –  –  –  –  423  –  (423 ) –  –  –  –
final and special 2005 dividends 
 declared  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (8,085 ) (8,085 ) –  (8,085 )
proposed final 2006 dividend 11 –  –  (7,950 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  7,950  –  –  –                          

at 31 december 2006  26,561  237,310 * 30,889 * 1,144 * (7,227 )* 301 * 423 * (1,923 )* 13,129 * 7,950  308,557  1,057  309,614                          
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ConsoLiDATeD sTATemenT of CHAnGes in eqUiTY (ConTinUeD)
year ended 31 december 2007

 Attributable to equity holders of the parent 
              Available-
              for-sale        proposed
    share    share    Asset  investment    exchange    final and
  issued  premium  Contributed  option  Goodwill  revaluation  revaluation  Reserve  fluctuation  Retained  special    minority  Total
 notes capital  account  surplus  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  funds  reserve  profits  dividends  Total  interests  equity
  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000
      (note 31(a))    (note 31(a))      (note 31(a))

at 1 January 2007  26,561  237,310  30,889  1,144  (7,227 ) –  301  423  (1,923 ) 13,129  7,950  308,557  1,057  309,614

exchange realignment  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  747  –  –  747  (7 ) 740
changes in fair value of
 available-for-sale investments  –  –  –  –  –  –  766  –  –  –  –  766  –  766
revaluation of property,
 plant and equipment 13 –  –  –  –  –  311  –  –  –  –  –  311  –  311
deferred tax liabilities on revaluation
 of property, plant and equipment 28 –  –  –  –  –  (103 ) –  –  –  –  –  (103 ) –  (103 )                            

total income and expense
 recognised directly in equity  –  –  –  –  –  208  766  –  747  –  –  1,721  (7 ) 1,714
profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  28,142  –  28,142  (171 ) 27,971                            

total income and expense
 for the year  –  –  –  –  –  208  766  –  747  28,142  –  29,863  (178 ) 29,685
issue of shares  14  142  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  156  –  156
repurchase of shares 29 (235 ) –  (1,975 ) –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (2,210 ) –  (2,210 )
transfer to reserve funds  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  274  –  (274 ) –  –  –  –
final 2006 dividend declared  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (7,950 ) (7,950 ) –  (7,950 )
proposed final 2007 dividend 11 –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (15,804 ) 15,804  –  –  –                            

at 31 december 2007  26,340  237,452 * 28,914 * 1,144 * (7,227 )* 208 * 1,067 * 697 * (1,176 )* 25,193 * 15,804  328,416  ���  329,295                            

* these reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of hK$286,272,000 (2006: hK$274,046,000) in the consolidated balance sheet.
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 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

CAsH fLoWs fRom opeRATinG ACTiViTies
profit before tax  28,849  13,780
adjustments for:
 interest income 5 (6,580 ) (5,936 )
 dividend income from listed and unlisted investments 5 (717 ) (256 )
 gain on disposal of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 5 (395 ) (1,409 )
 fair value gains on investment properties 5 (4,530 ) (4,192 )
 reversal of impairment of trade receivables 6 (127 ) – 
 fair value losses/(gains), net:
  equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 6 358  (813 )
 depreciation 6 4,309  4,834
 impairment of trade receivables 6 33  1,249
 impairment of amounts due from contract customers 6 7,762  –
 Write-off of trade receivables 6 –  319
 loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 193  23
 amortisation of deferred development costs 6 2,066  2,156
 impairment of deferred development costs 6 –  3,678
 Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 6 37  –    

  31,258  13,433
decrease in inventories  1,124  7,761
increase in trade receivables  (37,613 ) (22,956 )
decrease in amounts due from contract customers  26,893  9,813
decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables  (791 ) 3,008
increase in trade payables, other payables and accruals  14,729  10,511
increase/(decrease) in amounts due to contract customers  427  (1,200 )
increase in deferred income  2,245  2,737
decrease in amount due to a director  –  (499 )    

cash generated from operations  38,272  22,608
hong Kong profits tax paid  (134 ) (204 )
Overseas taxes refunded/(paid)  82  (1,472 )    

net cash inflow from operating activities  38,220  20,932    



��

ConsoLiDATeD CAsH fLoW sTATemenT (ConTinUeD)
year ended 31 december 2007

 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

net cash inflow from operating activities  38,220  20,932    

CAsH fLoWs fRom inVesTinG ACTiViTies
interest received  6,580  5,936
dividends received from listed and unlisted investments  717  256
purchases of items of property, plant and equipment  (1,379 ) (1,832 )
purchases of listed investments  (4,524 ) (11,123 )
purchases of available-for-sale investments  –  (495 )
proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment  9  70
proceeds from disposal of listed investments  4,819  12,385
held-to-maturity securities settled  –  3,900
increase in pledged bank deposits  (5,001 ) (3,664 )
acquisition of subsidiaries 32 (3,628 ) (886 )    

net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  (2,407 ) 4,547    

CAsH fLoWs fRom finAnCinG ACTiViTies
proceeds from issue of shares 29 156  –
capital contributed by minority shareholders  –  480
repurchase of shares 29 (2,210 ) (2,899 )
decrease in other financial liabilities  –  (23,400 )
dividends paid  (7,950 ) (8,085 )    

net cash outflow from financing activities  (10,004 ) (33,904 )    

neT inCReAse/(DeCReAse) in CAsH AnD CAsH eqUiVALenTs  25,809  (8,425 )
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  163,822  171,788
effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  717  459    

CAsH AnD CAsH eqUiVALenTs AT enD of YeAR  190,348  163,822    

AnALYsis of BALAnCes of CAsH AnD CAsH eqUiVALenTs
cash and bank balances 25 70,528  31,839
non-pledged time deposits with original maturity
 of less than three months when acquired 25 119,820  131,983    

  190,348  163,822    
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 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

non-CURRenT AsseTs
interests in subsidiaries 17 310,833  311,562

CURRenT AsseTs
prepayments 22 222  299
cash and cash equivalents 25 372  160    

total current assets  594  459    

CURRenT LiABiLiTies
Other payables and accruals 26 227  74    

neT CURRenT AsseTs  367  385    

net assets  311,200  311,947    

eqUiTY
issued capital 29 26,340  26,561
reserves 31(b) 269,056  277,436
proposed final dividend 11 15,804  7,950    

total equity  311,200  311,947    

ng Cheung shing Leung King san, sunny
Director Director
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noTes To finAnCiAL sTATemenTs
31 december 2007

1. CoRpoRATe infoRmATion

computer and technologies holdings limited is a limited liability company incorporated in bermuda. the principal place of 
business of the company is located at 30th floor, prosperity millennia plaza, 663 King’s road, north point, hong Kong.

during the year, the group was involved in the following principal activities:

•  provision of system and network integration services, application development services, it solutions implementation and 
related maintenance outsourcing services;

• provision of enterprise software applications and related operation outsourcing and e-business services;
• distribution and retail of digital media products and other computer accessories; and
• property and treasury investments

2.1 BAsis of pRepARATion

these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with hong Kong financial reporting standards (“hKfrss”) 
(which include all hong Kong financial reporting standards, hong Kong accounting standards (“hKass”) and 
interpretations) issued by the hong Kong institute of certified public accountants, accounting principles generally accepted 
in hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the hong Kong companies Ordinance. they have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, except for investment properties, available-for-sale investments and equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. these financial statements are presented in hong Kong dollars 
(“hK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
referred to as the “group”) for the year ended 31 december 2007. the results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date 
of acquisition, being the date on which the group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 
control ceases. all significant intercompany transactions and balances within the group are eliminated on consolidation.

the acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. this 
method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. the cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate 
of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by the group in the results and net assets of the 
company’s subsidiaries.
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2.2 impACT of neW AnD ReViseD HonG KonG finAnCiAL RepoRTinG sTAnDARDs

the group has adopted the following new and revised hKfrss for the first time for the current year’s financial statements. 
except for in certain cases, giving rise to new and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures, the adoption of these 
new and revised hKfrss has had no material effect on these financial statements.

hKfrs 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
hKas 1 amendment Capital Disclosures
hK(ifric)-int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2
hK(ifric)-int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
hK(ifric)-int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

the principal effects of adopting these new and revised hKfrss are as follows:

(a) HKfRs 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
this standard requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the significance of the 
group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial instruments. the new 
disclosures are included throughout the financial statements. While there has been no effect on the financial position or 
results of operations of the group, comparative information has been included/revised where appropriate.

(b) Amendment to HKAs 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures
this amendment requires the group to make disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the 
group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. these new disclosures are shown in note 37 to the 
financial statements.

(c) HK(ifRiC)-int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2
this interpretation requires hKfrs 2 to be applied to any arrangement in which the group cannot identify specifically 
some or all of the goods or services received, for which equity instruments are granted or liabilities (based on a value of 
the group’s equity instruments) are incurred by the group for a consideration, and which appears to be less than the 
fair value of the equity instruments granted or liabilities incurred. as the company has only issued equity instruments 
to the group’s employees for identified services provided in accordance with the company’s share option schemes, the 
interpretation has had no effect on these financial statements.

(d) HK(ifRiC)-int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
this interpretation requires that the date to assess whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from 
the host contract and accounted for as a derivative is the date that the group first becomes a party to the contract, with 
reassessment only if there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows. as the group has no 
embedded derivative requiring separation from the host contract, the interpretation has had no effect on these financial 
statements.

(e) HK(ifRiC)-int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
the group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 January 2007, which requires that an impairment loss recognised in a 
previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity instrument classified as available-for-
sale or a financial asset carried at cost is not subsequently reversed. as the group had no impairment losses previously 
reversed in respect of such assets, the interpretation has had no impact on the financial position or results of operations 
of the group.
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2.3 impACT of issUeD BUT noT YeT effeCTiVe HonG KonG finAnCiAL RepoRTinG sTAnDARDs

the group has not applied the following new and revised hKfrss, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these 
financial statements.

hKfrs 2 amendment Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1

hKfrs 3 (revised) Business Combinations 5

hKfrs 8 Operating Segments 1

hKas 1 (revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1

hKas 23 (revised) Borrowing Costs 1

hKas 27 (revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 5

hK(ifric)-int 11 HKFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions 2

hK(ifric)-int 12 Service Concession Arrangements 4

hK(ifric)-int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 3

hK(ifric)-int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
  Requirements and their Interaction 4

1 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 march 2007
3 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
4 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008
5 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

the amended hKfrs 2 restricts the definition of “vesting condition” to a condition that includes an explicit or implicit 
requirement to provide services. any other conditions are non-vesting conditions, which have to be taken into account to 
determine the fair value of the equity instruments granted. in the case that the award does not vest as the result of a failure 
to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of either the entity or the counterparty, this must be accounted for 
as a cancellation. the group has not entered into share-based payment schemes with non-vesting conditions attached and, 
therefore, does not expect significant implications on its accounting for share-based payments.

hKfrs 3 has been revised to introduce a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations that will impact the 
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. the 
changes introduced by the revised standard must be applied prospectively and will affect future acquisitions and transactions 
with minority interests.

hKfrs 8, which will replace hKas 14 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information about its 
operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity that is available to the chief operating decision 
maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segments and assessing their performance. the standard also requires 
the disclosure of information about the products and services provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the 
group operates, and revenue from the group’s major customers. the group expects to adopt hKfrs 8 from 1 January 2009.

the revised hKas 1 separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. the statement of changes in equity will include only 
details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. in addition, the revised 
standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense recognised in 
profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked 
statements. the group is still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements.
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2.3 impACT of issUeD BUT noT YeT effeCTiVe HonG KonG finAnCiAL RepoRTinG sTAnDARDs (ConTinUeD)

hKas 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. as the group’s current policy for borrowing costs aligns with the 
requirements of the revised standard, the revised standard is unlikely to have any financial impact on the group.

hKas 27 has been revised to require that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. furthermore, the 
revised standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. 
the changes introduced by the revised standard must be applied prospectively and will affect future acquisitions and 
transactions with minority interests.

hK(ifric)-int 11 requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to the group’s equity instruments, to be 
accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the group acquires the instruments from another party, or the shareholders 
provide the equity instruments needed. hK(ifric)-int 11 also addresses the accounting for share-based payment transactions 
involving two or more entities within the group. as the group currently has no such transactions, the interpretation is unlikely 
to have any financial impact on the group.

hK(ifric)-int 12 requires an operator under public-to-private service concession arrangements to recognise the consideration 
received or receivable in exchange for the construction services as a financial asset and/or an intangible asset, based on the 
terms of the contractual arrangements. hK(ifric)-int 12 also addresses how an operator shall apply existing hKfrss to 
account for the obligations and the rights arising from service concession arrangements by which a government or a public 
sector entity grants a contract for the construction of infrastructure used to provide public services and/or for the supply of 
public services. as the group currently has no such arrangements, the interpretation is unlikely to have any financial impact 
on the group.

hK(ifric)-int 13 requires that loyalty award credits granted to customers as part of a sales transaction are accounted for as 
a separate component of the sales transaction. the consideration received in the sales transaction is allocated between the 
loyalty award credits and the other components of the sale. the amount allocated to the loyalty award credits is determined by 
reference to their fair value and is deferred until the awards are redeemed or the liability is otherwise extinguished.

hK(ifric)-int 14 addresses how to assess the limit under hKas 19 Employee Benefits, on the amount of a refund or a 
reduction in future contributions in relation to a defined benefit scheme that can be recognised as an asset, in particular, 
when a minimum funding requirement exists.

as the group currently has no customer loyalty award credits and defined benefit scheme, hK(ifric)-int 13 and 
hK(ifric)-int 14 are not applicable to the group and therefore are unlikely to have any financial impact on the group.

the group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised hKfrss upon initial application. 
so far, it has concluded that while the adoption of hKfrs 8 may result in new or amended disclosures, these new and revised 
hKfrss are unlikely to have a significant impact on the group’s results of operations and financial position.

2.4 sUmmARY of siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG poLiCies

subsidiaries
a subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

the results of subsidiaries are included in the company’s income statement to the extent of dividends received and 
receivable. the company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 sUmmARY of siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

joint ventures
a joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the group and other parties undertake an economic 
activity. the joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the group and the other parties have an interest.

the joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration 
of the joint venture entity and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution. the profits and losses from 
the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their 
respective capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.

a joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the group does not have unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over 
the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than 
20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position to exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with hKas 39, if the group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 
20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise significant 
influence over, the joint venture.

Goodwill
goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business combination over the 
group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed as at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005

goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at cost and 
subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

the carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. the group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 
december. for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the group are assigned to those units or 
groups of units.

impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) 
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is 
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. an impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
a subsequent period.
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2.4 sUmmARY of siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

Goodwill (continued)
Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005 (continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit 
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the 
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Goodwill previously eliminated against consolidated reserves

prior to the adoption of the hKicpa’s statement of standard accounting practice 30 Business Combinations (“ssap 30”) in 
2001, goodwill arising on acquisition was eliminated against consolidated reserves in the year of acquisition. On the adoption 
of hKfrs 3, such goodwill remains eliminated against consolidated reserves and is not recognised in income statement when 
all or part of the business to which the goodwill relates is disposed of or when a cash-generating unit to which the goodwill 
relates becomes impaired.

excess over the cost of business combinations
any excess of the group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries (previously referred to as negative goodwill), after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, 
deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. an 
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs.

an impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. in assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. an impairment loss is charged to the 
income statement in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the 
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. if such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. a previously 
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount of an asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been 
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. a 
reversal of such impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant 
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 sUmmARY of siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

Related parties
a party is considered to be related to the group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with, the group; (ii) has an interest in the group that gives it significant influence over the group; or (iii) has joint 
control over the group;

(b) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the group;

(c) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (b);

(d) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for which significant voting 
power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (b) or (c); or

(e) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the group, or of any entity that is a 
related party of the group.

property, plant and equipment and depreciation
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. the 
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in 
the period in which it is incurred. in situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an 
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment, 
and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as 
a replacement.

changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. if 
the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to 
the income statement. any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the income statement to the extent of the deficit 
previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of 
previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its 
residual value over its estimated useful life. the principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the lease terms and 2% – 4%
leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%
computer equipment and software 20% – 331/3%
furniture, fixtures and other equipment 18% – 25%
motor vehicles 20%
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2.4 sUmmARY of siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet 
date.

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is 
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

investment properties
investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a 
property which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital 
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale 
in the ordinary course of business. such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date.

gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the income statement in the 
year in which they arise.

any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the income statement in the 
income statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

for a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties, the deemed cost of property for subsequent 
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. if a property occupied by the group as an owner-occupied property 
becomes an investment property, the group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “property, 
plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying 
amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “property, 
plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

intangible assets (other than goodwill)
the useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. intangible assets with finite lives are amortised 
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. the amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at 
least at each balance sheet date.
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2.4 sUmmARY of siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs
all research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the group can demonstrate 
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete 
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to 
complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. product development 
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over 
the expected commercial lives of the underlying products/services not exceeding five years, commencing from the date when 
the products/services are available for commercial use.

Leases
leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the group, other than legal title, are 
accounted for as finance leases. at the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the 
purchase and financing. assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, and 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. the finance costs of such leases 
are charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as 
operating leases. Where the group is the lessor, assets leased by the group under operating leases are included in non-
current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income statement on the straight-line 
basis over the lease terms. Where the group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases net of any incentives 
received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and buildings 
elements, the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant 
and equipment.
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investments and other financial assets
financial assets in the scope of hKas 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity securities and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are 
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs.

the group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the group first becomes a party to it and 
assesses whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the host contract when the analysis shows that 
the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract. 
reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would 
otherwise be required under the contract.

the group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-
evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.

all regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. financial assets are classified as 
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. gains or losses on investments held for trading 
are recognised in the income statement. the net fair value gain or loss recognised in the income statement does not include 
any dividends and interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for 
“revenue recognition” below.

Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance 
for impairment. amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. gains and losses are recognised in the income 
statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity securities
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when 
the group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. held-to-maturity securities are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost less any allowance for impairment. amortised cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between 
the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount. this calculation includes all fees and points paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
and discounts. gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process.
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investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity securities that are designated 
as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other three categories. after initial recognition, available-for-sale financial 
assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment 
is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
reported in equity is included in the income statement. interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and 
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income statement as “Other income” in accordance with the policies 
set out for “revenue recognition” below. losses arising from the impairment of such investments are recognised in the 
income statement as “impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets” and are transferred from the available-for-sale 
investment revaluation reserve.

Fair value
the fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted 
market bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. for investments where there is no active market, fair value is 
determined using valuation techniques. such techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference 
to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and other 
valuation models.

impairment of financial assets
the group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost
if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity securities carried at 
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (that is., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). 
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. the amount of the 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.

if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the 
allowance account. any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

in relation to trade and other receivables and amounts due from contract customers, a provision for impairment is made when 
there is objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant 
changes in the technological, market economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the group 
will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice/a contract. the carrying amount of the 
receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account. impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as 
uncollectible.
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impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
if an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment 
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the income statement, is 
transferred from equity to the income statement. a provision for impairment is made for available-for-sale equity investments 
when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence 
of impairment exists. the determination of what is “significant” or ’’prolonged” requires judgement. in addition, the group 
evaluates other factors, such as the share price volatility. impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available-for-
sale are not reversed through the income statement.

impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the income statement, if the increase in fair value of the 
instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets
a financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
where:
• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
• the group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full 

without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or
• the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all 

the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the group’s continuing involvement in the asset. continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the group could be required to repay.

financial liabilities at amortised cost
financial liabilities including trade and other payables and an amount due to a director are initially stated at fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method 
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.
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financial guarantee contracts
financial guarantee contracts in the scope of hKas 39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. a financial guarantee contract 
is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 
financial guarantee contract, except when such contract is recognised at fair value through profit or loss. subsequent to initial 
recognition, the group measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in accordance 
with hKas 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when 
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with hKas 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
a financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
income statement.

inventories
inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in 
the case of finished goods and work in progress, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
overheads. net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion 
and disposal.

Deferred income
deferred income represents service fees received in advance from the rendering of the corresponding services. revenue is 
recognised and deferred income is released to the income statement when the corresponding services have been rendered.

Cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand 
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s cash management.

for the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term 
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

provisions
a provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the balance sheet 
date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. the increase in the discounted present value 
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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income tax
income tax comprises current and deferred tax. income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates to 
items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.

current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities.

deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, 
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 
conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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Revenue recognition
revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and when the revenue can be 
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 
provided that the group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor 
effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the provision of it solutions, e-business and related services, on the percentage of completion basis, as further 
explained in the accounting policy for “contracts for services” below;

(c) maintenance service income, on a time proportion basis over the period of the contract;

(d) from the sale of listed investments on the transaction dates when the relevant contract notes are executed;

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(f) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; 
and

(g) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

Contracts for services
contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the agreed contract amount. costs of rendering services comprise 
labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing the services and attributable overheads.

revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided 
that the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably. the percentage of 
completion is established by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under the 
transaction, or services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed. Where the outcome of a contract 
cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is 
treated as an amount due from contract customers.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is 
treated as an amount due to contract customers.
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share-based payment transactions
the company operates two share option schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants 
who contribute to the success of the group’s operations. employees (including directors) of the group receive remuneration 
in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments 
(“equity-settled transactions”).

the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 
granted. the fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 
30 to the financial statements. in valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other 
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

the cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully 
entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). the cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each balance 
sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the group’s best estimate of 
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. the charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents 
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

no expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 
been modified. in addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair value of the share-
based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. however, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

the dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

the group has adopted the transitional provisions of hKfrs 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied hKfrs 2 
only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 november 2002 that had not vested by 1 January 2005 and to those granted on 
or after 1 January 2005.
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other employee benefits
Paid leave carried forward
the group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. under 
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the balance sheet date is permitted to be carried forward 
and utilised by the respective employees in the following year. an accrual is made at the balance sheet date for the expected 
future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the employees and carried forward.

Retirement benefits schemes
the group operates defined contribution retirement benefits schemes under the hong Kong mandatory provident fund 
schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to participate in the schemes. contributions are made based on a 
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance 
with the rules of the schemes. the assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the group in independently 
administered funds. When an employee leaves the mandatory provident fund exempted OrsO retirement benefits scheme 
prior to his/her interest in the group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the group 
may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited contributions. in respect of the mandatory provident fund retirement 
benefits scheme (the “mpf scheme”), the group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed 
into the mpf scheme, except for the group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the group when the 
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the mpf scheme.

the employees of the group’s subsidiaries which operate in mainland china are required to participate in a central retirement 
benefits scheme operated by the local municipal government. these subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain 
percentage of their payroll costs to the central retirement benefits scheme. the contributions are charged to the income 
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central retirement benefits scheme.

Dividends
final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits and/or contributed surplus 
within the equity section of the balance sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When 
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

foreign currencies
these financial statements are presented in hong Kong dollars, which is the company’s functional and presentation currency. 
each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency. foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency 
rates ruling at the date of the transactions. monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. all differences are taken to the income statement. 
non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
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foreign currencies (continued)
the functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the hong Kong dollar. as at the balance 
sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency of the company at the 
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date and, their income statements are translated into hong Kong dollars at the 
weighted average exchange rates for the year. the resulting exchange differences are included in the exchange fluctuation 
reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in the income statement.

for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into hong Kong 
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries 
which arise throughout the year are translated into hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG jUDGemenTs AnD esTimATes

the preparation of the group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the 
reporting date. however, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

judgements
in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor
the group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. the group has determined that it 
retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties
the group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in making that 
judgement. investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. therefore, the group 
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by the group.

some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for 
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. if these portions could be sold separately (or 
leased out separately under a finance lease), the group accounts for the portions separately. if the portions could not be sold 
separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a property 
does not qualify as an investment property.
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judgements (continued)
Impairment of assets
in determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the group has 
to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred that may 
affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset 
can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset 
or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether 
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. changing the assumptions selected by management to 
determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, 
could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test.

estimation uncertainty
the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill
the group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. this requires an estimation of the value in 
use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. estimating the value in use requires the group to make 
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate 
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. the carrying amount of goodwill at 31 december 2007 was 
hK$25,813,000 (2006: hK$23,900,000). more details are given in note 15.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
if a property occupied by the group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the group needs to 
determine the value of the property at the date of change in use. in the absence of current prices in an active market for 
similar properties, the group considers information from a variety of sources, including:

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or location (or subject to different leases 
or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences; and

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic 
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices.

the principal assumptions for the group’s estimation of the fair values of certain owner-occupied properties upon their 
transfer to investment properties during the year, include those related to current market rents for similar properties in the 
same location and condition and expected future market rents.

investment properties are carried in the balance sheet at their fair value. the fair value at the balance sheet date was based on 
a valuation on these properties conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers using property valuation techniques 
which involve making assumptions on certain market conditions. favourable or unfavourable changes to these assumptions 
would result in changes in the fair value of the group’s investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the gain 
or loss recognised in the income statement.
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estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables and amounts due from contract customers
the group maintain an allowance for estimated loss arising from the inability of its customers to make the required payments. 
the group makes its estimates based on the ageing of its receivable balances, customers’ creditworthiness, and historical 
write-off experience. if the financial condition of its customers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss might be 
higher than expected, the group would be required to revise the basis of making the allowance and its future results would be 
affected.

Deferred tax assets
deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the losses can be utilised. significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax 
planning strategies. the carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 december 2007 was 
hK$5,632,000 (2006: hK$2,000,000). the amount of unrecognised tax losses as at 31 december 2007 arising in hong 
Kong was hK$51,389,000 (2006: hK$74,105,000). further details are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
the group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the 
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment 
that should be recognised in the income statement. at 31 december 2007, no impairment losses have been recognised 
for available-for-sale assets (2006: nil). the carrying amount of available-for-sale assets was hK$2,587,000 (2006: 
hK$1,796,000). further details are included in note 19 to the financial statements.

Development costs
development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy for research and development costs in note 2.4 to 
the financial statements. determining the amounts to be capitalised requires management to make assumptions regarding the 
expected future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. more details 
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
the group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. definite 
life non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or 
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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3. siGnifiCAnT ACCoUnTinG jUDGemenTs AnD esTimATes (ConTinUeD)

estimation uncertainty (continued)
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
the group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment. 
this estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of assets of similar nature and functions. it could 
change significantly as a result of technical innovation and competitor actions in response to serve industry cycles. useful lives 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. the group will increase the depreciation charge where 
useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets 
that have been abandoned.

Net realisable value of inventories
net realisable value of inventories is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion 
and disposal. these estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical experience in selling goods of 
similar nature. it could change significantly as a result of change in market condition. the group will reassess the estimations 
at each balance sheet date.

4. seGmenT infoRmATion

segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis, by business 
segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

the group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the nature of their operations and 
the products and services they provide. each of the group’s business segments represents a strategic business unit that 
offers products and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. 
summary details of the business segments are as follows:

(a) the integration and solutions services segment engages in the provision of system and network integration services, 
application development services, it solutions implementation and related maintenance outsourcing services;

(b) the application services segment engages in the provision of enterprise software applications and related operation 
outsourcing and e-business services;

(c) the distribution segment engages in the distribution and retail of digital media products and other computer accessories; 
and

(d) the investments segment primarily engages in various types of investing activities including, inter alia, property 
investment for rental income and treasury investments in listed securities and held-to-maturity securities for dividend 
income and interest income.

in determining the group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments based on the location of the 
customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets.
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4. seGmenT infoRmATion (ConTinUeD)

there were no material intersegment sales and transfers during the current and the prior years.

(a) Business segments
the following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset, liability and expenditure information for the group’s 
business segments for the years ended 31 december 2007 and 2006 or as at 31 december 2007 and 2006.

Group
 integration and
 solutions services Application services Distribution investments Consolidated
 2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

segment revenue:
 sales to external customers 278,707  154,058  48,343  52,092  30,266  29,997  1,422  1,215  358,738  237,362
 Other revenue, income and gains 3,165  1,145  36  87  1,754  2,078  5,797  6,035  10,752  9,345                   
 total 281,872  155,203  48,379  52,179  32,020  32,075  7,219  7,250  369,490  246,707                   
segment results before significant
 non-cash expenses 35,675  13,184  10,589  15,941  (154 ) (618 ) 2,615  2,648  48,725  31,155
legal and professional fees in connection 
 with certain legal proceedings* –  –  (1,400 ) –  –  –  –  –  (1,400 ) –
Write-down of inventories to 
 net realisable value –  –  –  –  (37 ) –  –  –  (37 ) –
depreciation (1,982 ) (2,418 ) (1,466 ) (1,325 ) (441 ) (592 ) (231 ) (273 ) (4,120 ) (4,608 )
amortisation of deferred development 
 costs –  –  (2,066 ) (2,156 ) –  –  –  –  (2,066 ) (2,156 )
impairment of deferred development 
 costs recognised in the income
 statement –  (1,432 ) –  (2,246 ) –  –  –  –  –  (3,678 )
impairment of amounts due from
 contract customers (6,059 ) –  (1,703 ) –  –  –  –  –  (7,762 ) –
impairment of trade receivables and 
 write-off of trade receivables (33 ) –  –  (1,313 ) –  (255 ) –  –  (33 ) (1,568 )
reversal of impairment of
 trade receivables –  –  127  –  –  –  –  –  127  –
fair value gains on investment properties –  –  –    –    4,530  4,192  4,530  4,192
net fair value gains/(losses) on equity
 investments at fair value through 
 profit or loss –  –  –    –    (358 ) 813  (358 ) 813                   
segment results 27,601  9,334  4,081  8,901  (632 ) (1,465 ) 6,556  7,380  37,606  24,150               
unallocated interest income and gains                 7,797  6,439
corporate and other unallocated expenses                 (16,554 ) (16,809 )                   
profit before tax                 28,849  13,780
tax                 (878 ) (1,933 )                   
profit for the year                 27,971  11,847                   

* the amount represents accrued legal and professional fees in connection with certain legal proceedings against a former senior employee of a 
subsidiary of the group relating to the breach of certain contractual commitments.
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4. seGmenT infoRmATion (ConTinUeD)

(a) Business segments (continued)
Group
 integration and
 solutions services Application services Distribution investments Consolidated
 2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

Assets and liabilities:
segment assets 112,075  160,624  36,148  55,487  8,257  15,889  42,645  37,990  199,125  269,990
corporate and other unallocated assets                 215,051  102,926                   

total assets                 414,176  372,916                   

segment liabilities 49,582  36,610  20,058  16,980  6,561  7,548  464  289  76,665  61,427
corporate and other unallocated liabilities                 8,216  1,875                   

total liabilities                 84,881  63,302                   

other segment information:
capital expenditure 2,319  535  579  903  125  330  –  –  3,023  1,768
corporate and other unallocated 
 capital expenditure                 71  360                   

                 3,094  2,128                   

(b) Geographical segments
the following table presents revenue and certain asset and expenditure information for the group’s geographical 
segments for the years ended 31 december 2007 and 2006 or as at 31 december 2007 and 2006.

Group

 Hong Kong mainland China others Consolidated
 2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

segment revenue:
 sales to external customers 119,617  100,426  220,932  119,418  18,189  17,518  358,738  237,362               

other segment information:
 segment assets 257,062  279,018  149,953  85,393  7,161  8,505  414,176  372,916               

 capital expenditure 1,485  1,708  1,531  263  78  157  3,094  2,128               
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5. ReVenUe, oTHeR inCome AnD GAins

revenue, which is also the group’s turnover, represents the aggregate of the invoiced value of goods sold, net of trade 
discounts, returns and business tax, where applicable; fees earned from the provision of it solutions, e-business and related 
services; fees earned from the provision of maintenance services; gross rental income earned from investment properties; and 
interest income earned from treasury investments during the year.

an analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

Revenue
sale of goods:
 computer network and system platform 214,338  119,823
 computer hardware, software and related accessories 30,266  29,997   

 244,604  149,820

provision of it solutions, e-business and related services 53,389  31,246
provision of maintenance services 59,323  55,081
gross rental income from investment properties 1,377  1,148
interest income from treasury investments 45  67   

 358,738  237,362   

other income
bank interest income 6,535  5,869
dividend income from listed and unlisted investments 717  256
gross sub-lease rental income 929  1,229
Others 2,075  1,276   

 10,256  8,630   

Gains
fair value gains on investment properties (note 14) 4,530  4,192
gain on disposal of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss 395  1,409
foreign exchange differences, net 3,368  1,553   

 8,293  7,154   

 18,549  15,784   
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6. pRofiT BefoRe TAX

the group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

 notes 2007  2006
  HK$’000  hK$’000

cost of inventories sold  219,889  127,698
cost of services provided  27,060  21,513
depreciation* 13 4,309  4,834
loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment  193  23
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value**  37  –
amortisation of deferred development costs* 16 2,066  2,156
minimum lease payments under operating leases in respect 
 of land and buildings  8,534  8,189
auditors’ remuneration  1,680  1,522

employee benefits expense (excluding directors’ 
 remuneration – note 7)#:
  Wages, salaries and allowances  77,675  63,462
  retirement benefits scheme contributions
   (defined contribution schemes)  3,356  2,612
  less: forfeited contributions##  (99 ) (104 )   

  net retirement benefits scheme contributions  3,257  2,508   

  80,932  65,970   

impairment of trade receivables** 21 33  1,249
impairment of amounts due from contract customers** 23 7,762  –
impairment of deferred development costs** 16 –  3,678
Write-off of trade receivables**  –  319
reversal of impairment of trade receivables** 21 (127 ) –
direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance)
 arising on rental-earning investment properties  127  113
fair value losses/(gains), net:
 equity investments at fair value through profit or loss  358  (813 )
net rental income  (1,250 ) (1,035 )   

* the amortisation of deferred development costs of hK$2,066,000 (2006: hK$2,156,000) and depreciation of hK$1,253,000 (2006: hK$1,563,000) are 
included in “cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

** these items are included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the consolidated income statement.

# inclusive of an amount of hK$27,060,000 (2006: hK$21,513,000) classified under “cost of services provided” above.

## the amounts of forfeited contributions available to reduce the group’s contributions to the retirement benefits schemes in future years were not material as 
at 31 december 2007 and 2006.
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7. DiReCToRs’ RemUneRATion

directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to section 161 of the hong Kong companies Ordinance and the 
rules governing the listing of securities on the stock exchange of hong Kong limited (the “listing rules”), is as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

fees:
 executive directors –  –
 independent non-executive directors 240  240   

 240  240   

Other emoluments:
 salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,800  2,800
 performance related bonuses* 578  481
 retirement benefits scheme contributions (defined contribution scheme) 36  36   

 3,414  3,317   

 3,654  3,557   

* certain directors of the company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined by the board of directors on a discretionary basis.

(a) independent non-executive directors
the fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

 fees
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

independent non-executive directors:
 ha shu tong 80  80
 lee Kwok On, matthew 80  80
 ting leung huel, stephen 80  80   

total remuneration 240  240   

save as disclosed above, there were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during 
the year (2006: nil).
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7. DiReCToRs’ RemUneRATion (ConTinUeD)

(b) executive directors
the fees and other emoluments paid to executive directors during the year were as follows:

 salaries,    Retirement
 allowances  performance  benefits
 and benefits  related  scheme  Total
 in kind  bonuses  contributions  remuneration
 hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000
2007

executive directors:
 ng cheung shing (“mr. ng”) 1,392  345  12  1,749
 leung King san, sunny 948  155  12  1,115
 ma mok hoi 460  78  12  550       

 2,800  578  36  3,414       

2006

executive directors:
 ng cheung shing 1,392  291  12  1,695
 leung King san, sunny 948  100  12  1,060
 ma mok hoi 460  90  12  562       

 2,800  481  36  3,317       

the directors’ emolument paid to mr. ng included a housing allowance of hK$1,380,000 (2006: nil) which is 
remunerated by way of rental reimbursement. the rentals of the related property were paid directly by mr. ng to the 
landlord, which is a company jointly controlled by mr. ng and his family member.

there was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2006: 
nil).
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8. fiVe HiGHesT pAiD empLoYees

the five highest paid employees of the group during the year included two (2006: one) directors, details of whose 
remuneration are set out in note 7 to the financial statements. details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2006: four) 
non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,593  4,802
performance related bonuses 1,884  552
retirement benefits scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 61  67   

 5,538  5,421   

the number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

 number of employees
 2007  2006

hK$1,000,001 to hK$1,500,000 1  4
hK$1,500,001 to hK$2,000,000 1  –
hK$2,500,001 to hK$3,000,000 1  –   

 3  4   
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9. TAX

hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2006: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in 
hong Kong during the year. taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the 
countries/jurisdictions in which the group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect 
thereof.

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

group:
 current – hong Kong
  charge for the year 99  240
  Overprovision in prior years (48 ) (92 )
 current – elsewhere
  charge for the year 4,409  2,094
  Overprovision in prior years (620 ) (309 )
 deferred (note 28) (2,962 ) –   

total tax charge for the year 878  1,933   

a reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax using the statutory profits tax rate for hong Kong in which the 
company and the majority of its subsidiaries are operating/domiciled to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows.

group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

profit before tax 28,849  13,780   

tax at the hong Kong statutory tax rate of 17.5% (2006: 17.5%) 5,049  2,411
higher tax rates for overseas subsidiaries 1,980  2,030
adjustments in respect of current tax of prior years (668 ) (401 )
income not subject to tax (2,343 ) (3,968 )
expenses not deductible for tax 1,973  1,660
tax losses utilised from prior periods (7,122 ) (1,790 )
tax losses not recognised 1,975  1,796
Others 34  195   

tax charge at the group’s effective tax rate 878  1,933   

under the income tax laws of the people’s republic of china (the “prc”), enterprises are subject to corporate income tax 
(“cit”) generally at a rate of 33% (2006: 33%). however, certain of the group’s prc subsidiaries are operating in specific 
development zones of the prc and the relevant tax authorities have granted those subsidiaries a preferential cit rate of 15% 
(2006: 15%).
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9. TAX (ConTinUeD)

One of the company’s subsidiary is a foreign investment enterprise registered in the prc. after obtaining authorisation from 
the relevant tax authority, the subsidiary is subject to a full corporate income tax exemption for the first two years and a 50% 
reduction in the succeeding three years, commencing from the first profitable year (starting from year ended 31 december 
2005).

10. pRofiT ATTRiBUTABLe To eqUiTY HoLDeRs of THe pARenT

the consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31 december 2007 includes a profit of 
hK$9,257,000 (2006: a loss of hK$784,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the company (note 
31(b)).

11. DiViDenD

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

proposed final - hK$0.06 (2006: hK$0.03) per ordinary share 15,804  7,950   

the proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

12. eARninGs peR sHARe ATTRiBUTABLe To oRDinARY eqUiTY HoLDeRs of THe pARenT

(a) Basic earnings per share
the calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the parent of hK$28,142,000 (2006: hK$12,408,000), and the weighted average number of 264,770,000 (2006: 
269,288,000) ordinary shares of the company in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share
diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 december 2007 and 2006 have not been disclosed as the exercise 
price of the company’s outstanding share options is higher than the average market prices of the company’s ordinary 
shares during these years and accordingly, the company’s outstanding share options have no dilutive effect on the 
basic earnings per share for these years.
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13. pRopeRTY, pLAnT AnD eqUipmenT

Group
     Computer  furniture,
 Leasehold  Leasehold  equipment  fixtures
 land and  improve-  and  and other  motor
 buildings  ments  software  equipment  vehicles  Total
 hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000

31 December 2007

at 31 december 2006 and at 1 January 2007:
 cost 7,158   7,315  35,938  5,942  1,298  57,651
 accumulated depreciation (736 ) (6,737 )  (30,877 ) (4,958 ) (828 ) (44,136 )           
 net carrying amount 6,422  578  5,061  984  470  13,515           

at 1 January 2007, net of accumulated depreciation 6,422  578  5,061  984  470  13,515
additions –  –  1,602  293  1,199  3,094
surplus on revaluation upon transfer to 
 investment properties* 311  –  –  –  –  311
transfer to investment properties* (note 14) (2,505 ) –  –  –  –  (2,505 )
disposals –  (2 ) (21 ) (179 ) –  (202 )
depreciation provided during the year (192 ) (419 ) (3,046 ) (422 ) (230 ) (4,309 )
exchange realignment –  3  (23 ) 3  15  (2 )           
at 31 december 2007, net of accumulated depreciation 4,036  160  3,573  679  1,454  9,902           
at 31 december 2007:
 cost 4,652  7,274  37,839  5,643  2,536  57,944
 accumulated depreciation (616 ) (7,114 ) (34,266 ) (4,964 ) (1,082 ) (48,042 )           
 net carrying amount 4,036  160  3,573  679  1,454  9,902           

31 December 2006

at 31 december 2005 and at 1 January 2006:
 cost 7,158  7,073  34,599  5,835  1,300  55,965
 accumulated depreciation (510 ) (6,251 ) (27,523 ) (4,821 ) (611 ) (39,716 )           
 net carrying amount 6,648  822  7,076  1,014  689  16,249           

at 1 January 2006, net of accumulated depreciation 6,648  822  7,076  1,014  689  16,249
additions –  78  1,478  276  –  1,832
acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32) –  123  25  148  –  296
disposals –  –  (80 ) (8 ) (5 ) (93 )
depreciation provided during the year (226 ) (463 ) (3,449 ) (470 ) (226 ) (4,834 )
exchange realignment –  18  11  24  12  65           
at 31 december 2006, net of accumulated depreciation 6,422  578  5,061  984  470  13,515           
at 31 december 2006:
 cost 7,158  7,315  35,938  5,942  1,298  57,651
 accumulated depreciation (736 ) (6,737 ) (30,877 ) (4,958 ) (828 ) (44,136 )           
 net carrying amount 6,422  578  5,061  984  470  13,515           

* a leasehold land and building of the group was revalued at the date of change in use as an investment property by management at an open market value 
of hK$2,505,000 (note 14). a revaluation surplus of hK$311,000, resulting from the above valuation, has been credited and the corresponding deferred 
tax effect of hK$103,000 (note 28) has been debited to the group’s asset revaluation reserve during the year ended 31 december 2007.
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13. pRopeRTY, pLAnT AnD eqUipmenT (ConTinUeD)

the group’s leasehold land and buildings are held under the following lease terms:

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

hong Kong:
 medium term leases 433  449   

mainland china:
 medium term leases 2,537  4,873
 long term leases 1,066  1,100   

 3,603  5,973   

 4,036  6,422   

14. inVesTmenT pRopeRTies

Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

carrying amount at 1 January 22,012  17,820
transfer from leasehold land and buildings (note 13) 2,505  –
net profit from a fair value adjustment (note 5) 4,530  4,192   

carrying amount at 31 december 29,047  22,012   

the group’s investment properties are held under the following lease terms:

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

hong Kong:
 medium term leases 2,565  1,564
 long term leases 17,500  14,500   

 20,065  16,064   

mainland china:
 medium term leases 4,422  1,700
 long term leases 4,560  4,248   

 8,982  5,948   

 29,047  22,012   
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14. inVesTmenT pRopeRTies (ConTinUeD)

the group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 december 2007 by landscope surveyors limited, independent 
professionally qualified valuers, at hK$29,047,000 on an open market, existing use basis. the investment properties are 
leased to third parties under operating leases, further summary details of which are included in note 33(a) to the financial 
statements.

at 31 december 2007, one of the group’s investment properties situated in hong Kong with a carrying value of approximately 
hK$17,500,000 (2006: hK$14,500,000), was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the group.

further particulars of the group’s investment properties are included on page 99.

15. GooDWiLL

Group

 hK$’000

31 December 2006

cost at 1 January 2006 23,790
acquisition of subsidiaries* (note 32) 110 

cost and carrying amount at 31 december 2006 23,900 

31 December 2007

cost at 1 January 2007 23,900
acquisition of subsidiaries* (note 32) 1,913 

cost and carrying amount at 31 december 2007 25,813 

* as further detailed in note 32 to the financial statements, on 24 november 2006, the group acquired the entire issued share capital of Waywin limited, 
which has an interest of 99.993% of the issued share capital of y&a professional serivces limited (collectively the “Waywin group”). at 31 december 
2006, the goodwill on acquisition of the Waywin group of approximately hK$110,000 had been determined provisionally, pending the finalisation of the 
cost of the business combination, which is contingent on certain future events, and the completion of the appraisal of identifiable assets and liabilities, as 
further detailed in note 32 to the financial statements, and accordingly, may change upon such finalisaton/completion. during the year, the cost of the 
acquisition of the Waywin group has been finalised and the aforementioned appraisal has been completed and, accordingly, an additional goodwill arising 
on the acquisition and the Waywin group of hK$1,913,000 has been recognised, as further detailed in note 32 to the financial statements.

as further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial statements, the group applied the transitional provisions of hKfrs 3 
that permitted goodwill in respect of business combinations which occurred prior to 2001, to remain eliminated against 
consolidated reserves.

the amount of goodwill remaining in consolidated reserves, arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries prior to the adoption 
of ssap 30 in 2001, was hK$7,227,000 as at 31 december 2006 and 2007. the amount of goodwill is stated at its cost less 
cumulative impairment of hK$3,890,000 which arose in years prior to 1 January 2006.
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15. GooDWiLL (ConTinUeD)

impairment testing of goodwill
goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are 
reportable segments, for impairment testing:

• application services cash-generating unit; and
• integration and solutions services cash-generating unit.

the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows:

 Application integration and
 services solutions services Total
 2007  2006  2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

carrying amount of goodwill 23,790  23,790  2,023  110  25,813  23,900           

Application services cash-generating unit
the recoverable amount of the application services cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value in use 
calculation using cash flow projections approved by senior management covering a five-year period. the discount rate applied 
to the cash flow projections is 5% (2006: 5%) and the cash flows projection is determined based on past performance 
management’s expectations for the market development and with reference to the performance of the relevant industry.

Integration and solutions services cash-generating unit
the recoverable amount of the integration and solutions services cash-generating unit has also been determined based on a 
value in use calculation using cash flow projections approved by senior management covering a five-year period. the discount 
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 5% (2006: 5%) and the cash flows projections is determined based on past 
performance, management’s expectations for the market development and with reference in the performance of the relevant 
industry.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the application services and integration and solutions services 
cash-generating units for 31 december 2007 and 31 december 2006. the following describes each key assumption on 
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue – the basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted revenue is the revenue achieved in the 
year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected growth in market demand and customer base.

Discount rates – the discount rates used are before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant cash-generating 
units.
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16. oTHeR inTAnGiBLe AsseTs

Group

 Deferred
 development
 costs
 hK$’000

31 December 2007

cost at 1 January 2007, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 2,066
amortisation provided during the year (2,066 ) 

at 31 december 2007, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment – 

at 31 december 2007:
 cost 13,026
 accumulated amortisation and impairment (13,026 ) 

 net carrying amount – 

31 December 2006

cost at 1 January 2006, net of accumulated amortisation 7,868
amortisation provided during the year (2,156 )
impairment during the year (note 6) (3,678 )
exchange realignment 32 

at 31 december 2006, net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 2,066 

at 31 december 2006:
 cost 13,026
 accumulated amortisation and impairment (10,960 ) 

 net carrying amount 2,066 

for the year ended 31 december 2006, the group recognised certain provisions for impairment of deferred development 
costs in the aggregate of approximately hK$3,678,000, based on an assessment of the recoverable amount for the 
integration and solutions services and application services cash-generating units. impairment losses of hK$1,432,000 and 
hK$2,246,000 were recognised in the integration and solutions services segment and the application services segment, 
respectively.
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17. inTeResTs in sUBsiDiARies

 Company
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

unlisted shares/investments, at cost 45,633  45,633
due from a subsidiary 356,848  357,572
due to a subsidiary (5 ) –   

 402,476  403,205
impairment* (91,643 ) (91,643 )   

 310,833  311,562   

the balances with subsidiary included in the company’s interests in subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and have 
no fixed terms of repayment.

* an impairment was recognised for certain unlisted investments/due from a subsidiary with a carrying amount of hK$402,481,000 (before deducting the 
impairment loss) (2006: hK$403,205,000) because the recoverable amount of these investments were lower than their carrying amounts. there was no 
change in the impairment account during the current and prior years.

particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

  nominal value
 place of of issued and  percentage of
 incorporation/ fully paid  equity
 registration share capital/  attributable to
name and operations registered capital  the Company principal activities
    2007 2006

apex result trading limited hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100 100 property holding

computer and technologies british virgin Ordinary  100 100 investment holding
 (bvi) limited  islands us$1,000

computer and technologies hong Kong Ordinary  100 100 provision of it services
 international limited  hK$2     and investment holding
  non-voting deferred **
  hK$5,000,000

computer and technologies hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100 100 provision of system and 
 integration limited       network integration
       services
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17. inTeResTs in sUBsiDiARies (ConTinUeD)

  nominal value
 place of of issued and  percentage of
 incorporation/ fully paid  equity
 registration share capital/  attributable to
name and operations registered capital  the Company principal activities
    2007 2006

computer & technologies prc/mainland us$200,000  100 100 trading of computer 
 international trading  china      hardware and software
 (shanghai) company limited#

computer & technologies prc/mainland us$3,500,000  100 100 provision of system and
 (shanghai) co., ltd.##  china      network integration
       services

computer & technologies british virgin islands/ Ordinary us$1  100 100 investment holding and
 investment limited  hong Kong      treasury investments

c&t (guangzhou) investment  hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100 100 property holding
 limited

c&t (hong Kong) investment british virgin islands/ Ordinary us$1  100 100 property holding
 limited  hong Kong

c&t (nanjing) investment hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100 100 property holding
 limited

c&t (shanghai) investment hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100 100 property holding
 limited
 
computer and technologies hong Kong Ordinary  100 100 provision of it solutions
 solutions limited  hK$10,000     and implementation
       services

computer & technologies prc/mainland us$1,128,000  100 100 provision of it solutions 
 solutions (shenzhen)  china      and implementation
 co., ltd.##       services

global e-business services british virgin islands class a  100  100  investment holding
 (bvi) limited  us$1,600
  class b      
  us$400
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17. inTeResTs in sUBsiDiARies (ConTinUeD)

  nominal value
 place of of issued and  percentage of
 incorporation/ fully paid  equity
 registration share capital/  attributable to
name and operations registered capital  the Company principal activities
    2007 2006

global e-business services hong Kong Ordinary  100  100  provision of enterprise
 limited  hK$1,010,000       application services

global e-trading services hong Kong Ordinary  100  100  provision of government
 limited  hK$2,501,000       electronic trading
         services

e-tendering.com limited british virgin islands/ Ordinary us$1  100  100  provision of e-tendering
  hong Kong        services

ets.com.hk limited hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100  100  provision of e-tendering
         services for the hKsar
         government

ipl research limited hong Kong Ordinary  100  100  provision of human
  hK$100       resources management
  non-voting deferred **      system and related
  hK$300,000       services

maxfair technology limited hong Kong Ordinary  75  75  distribution of digital
  hK$2,500,000       media products

maxfair technology (taiwan) taiwan Ordinary  52.5  52.5  distribution of digital
 company limited  nt$10,000,000       media products

modern lucky investments hong Kong Ordinary hK$2  100  100  property holding
 limited

Waywin limited british virgin islands/ Ordinary  100  100  investment holding
  hong Kong us$10,000
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17. inTeResTs in sUBsiDiARies (ConTinUeD)

  nominal value
 place of of issued and  percentage of
 incorporation/ fully paid  equity
 registration share capital/  attributable to
name and operations registered capital  the Company principal activities
    2007 2006

y&a professional hong Kong Ordinary  99.993  99.993  provision of information
 services limited  hK$2,169,000       technology solutions
         and consultation
         services

上海商絡軟件有限公司## prc/mainland Ordinary  100  100  provision of human
  china us$140,000       resources management
         and related services

# the subsidiary is registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture under the prc law.

## the subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the prc law.

** the non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the group, carry no rights to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general 
meeting. in the winding-up of the subsidiaries, the holders of the deferred shares carry the right to receive a return of capital after the holders of the 
ordinary shares have received a sum of hK$1,000,000,000 per ordinary share.

except for computer and technologies (bvi) limited, all of the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the company.

the above table lists the subsidiaries of the company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for 
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the group or of particular importance to the group. to give details 
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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18. HeLD-To-mATURiTY seCURiTies

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

at amortised cost:
 unlisted debt securities 1,265  1,265

 portion classified as current assets (767 ) –    
 non-current portion 498  1,265    

the group’s unlisted debt securities of hK$765,000 at 31 december 2006 were pledged to secure general banking facilities 
granted to the group.

19. AVAiLABLe-foR-sALe inVesTmenTs

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

club membership debenture, at fair value 2,050  1,180

unlisted equity investment, at fair value 537  616    
 2,587  1,796    

during the year, the gross gain of the group’s available-for-sale investments recognised directly in equity amounted to 
hK$766,000 (2006: hK$551,000).

the above investments consist of investments in securities which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and 
have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

the fair values of the club membership debenture and unlisted equity investment are based on quoted/available market 
prices.

20. inVenToRies

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

Work in progress 6,132  7,561
finished goods 5,577  5,309    
 11,709  12,870    
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21. TRADe ReCeiVABLes

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

trade receivables 86,460  48,732
impairment (3,573 ) (3,552 )    

 82,887  45,180    

for system integration projects and the provision of maintenance services and software development services, the group’s 
trading terms with its customers vary from contract to contract and may include cash on delivery, advance payment and 
on credit. for those customers who trade on credit, the overall credit period tie to the project implementation schedule is 
generally within 120 days, except for certain projects with longer implementation schedules where the period may extend 
beyond 120 days. the group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade receivables and overdue balances are 
reviewed regularly by senior management. trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

an aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the balance sheet date, based on the payment due date and net of provisions, is 
as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

current 35,896  25,211
1 to 3 months 38,882  8,290
4 to 6 months 8,092  4,352
more than 6 months 17  7,327    

 82,887  45,180    
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21. TRADe ReCeiVABLes (ConTinUeD)

the movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

at 1 January 3,552  2,255
impairment losses recognised (note 6) 33  1,249
impairment losses reversed (note 6) (127 ) –
exchange realignment 115  48    

at 31 december 3,573  3,552    

included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade receivables 
of hK$3,573,000 (2006: hK$3,552,000) with a carrying amount of hK$3,585,000 (2006: hK$3,788,000). the individually 
impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in financial difficulties and only a portion of the receivables is 
expected to be recovered. the group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

the aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

neither past due nor impaired 35,896  25,713
less than 1 month past due 29,941  6,941
1 to 3 months past due 8,940  1,966
4 to 6 months past due 8,092  4,037
Over 6 months past due 6  6,287    

 82,875  44,944    

receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to the trade receivables due from certain departments/units of 
the government of the hKsar and a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history of material 
default.

receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers with good reputation and/or 
have a good track record with the group. based on past experience, the directors of the company are of the opinion that no 
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality 
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. the group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements 
over these balances.
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22. pRepAYmenTs, DeposiTs AnD oTHeR ReCeiVABLes

 Group Company
 2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

prepayments 4,740  2,834  222  299
deposits and other receivables 3,244  4,359  –  –       

 7,984  7,193  222  299       

none of the above assets is either past due or impaired. the financial assets included in the above balances relate to 
receivables for which there was no recent history of material default.

23. ConTRACT foR seRViCes

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

contract costs incurred plus recognised
 profits less recognised losses to date 292,916  261,574

less: progress billings (269,896 ) (203,472 )    

 23,020  58,102    

gross amounts due from contract customers 32,159  59,052
impairment (7,762 ) –    

 24,397  59,052

gross amounts due to contract customers (1,377 ) (950 )    

 23,020  58,102    
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23. ConTRACT foR seRViCes (ConTinUeD)

the movement in provision for impairment of amounts due from contract customers is as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

at 1 January –  –
impairment losses recognised (note 6) 7,762  –    

at 31 december 7,762  –    

included in the above provision for impairment of amounts due from contract customers is a provision for individually 
impaired contract receivable amounts of hK$7,762,000 (2006: nil) with a carrying amount of hK$7,887,000 (2006: nil). 
the individual impaired contract receivable amounts relate to amounts that are long outstanding and the receivables are not 
expected to be fully recovered.

amounts due from contract customers that were not impaired were not past due and relate to a number of independent 
clients that have a good track record with the group. based on past experience, the directors of the company are of the 
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change 
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. the group does not hold any collateral or other credit 
enhancement over these balances.

24. eqUiTY inVesTmenTs AT fAiR VALUe THRoUGH pRofiT oR Loss

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

listed equity investments, at market value:
 hong Kong 5,710  5,968    

the above equity investments at 31 december 2007 and 2006 were classified as held for trading.
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25. CAsH AnD CAsH eqUiVALenTs AnD pLeDGeD BAnK DeposiTs

 Group Company
 2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

cash and bank balances 70,528  31,839  372  160
time deposits 136,497  143,659  –  –       

 207,025  175,498  372  160

less: pledged time deposits for performance
   bonds/guarantees issued by banks (16,677 ) (11,676 ) –  –       

cash and cash equivalents 190,348  163,822  372  160       

pledged time deposits analysed
 for reporting purposes:
  non-current –  3,110  –  –
  current 16,677  8,566  –  –       

 16,677  11,676  –  –       

at the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the group denominated in renminbi (“rmb”) amounted to 
approximately hK$61,838,000 (2006: hK$47,103,000). the rmb is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, 
under mainland china’s foreign exchange control regulations and administration of settlement, sale and payment of foreign 
exchange regulations, the group is permitted to exchange rmb for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct 
foreign exchange business.

cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. short term time deposits are made for varying 
periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the group, and earn interest 
at the respective short term time deposit rates. the bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy 
banks with no recent history of default.
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26. TRADe pAYABLes, oTHeR pAYABLes AnD ACCRUALs

 Group Company
 2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

trade payables 37,699  24,042  –  –
Other payables 13,862  17,429  207  54
accruals 13,866  9,227  20  20       

 65,427  50,698  227  74       

an aged analysis of the trade payables included in trade payables, other payables and accruals as at the balance sheet date, 
based on the payment due date, is as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

current 30,220  17,013
1 to 3 months 5,842  6,183
4 to 6 months 603  696
Over 6 months 1,034  150    

 37,699  24,042    

included in the group’s other payables as at 31 december 2006 was an acquisition consideration payable of approximately 
hK$1,715,000, representing the additional consideration in connection with the acquisition of certain subsidiaries, as further 
detailed in note 32 to the financial statements.

the trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

27. DUe To A DiReCToR

the amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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28. DefeRReD TAX

the movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Group

 Revaluation of properties
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

at 1 January –  –
deferred tax charged to the income statement during the year (note 9) 670  –
deferred tax debited to equity during the year 103  –    

deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
 at 31 december  773  –    

Deferred tax assets

Group

 Losses available
 for offset against
 future taxable profits
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

at 1 January 2,000  2,000
deferred tax credited to the income statement during the year (note 9) 3,632  –    

deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
 at 31 december  5,632  2,000    

at the balance sheet date, the group had tax losses arising in hong Kong of hK$51,389,000 (2006: hK$74,105,000), 
subject to the agreement by the hong Kong inland revenue department. the tax losses arising in hong Kong are available 
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses that are arising in hong Kong. 
deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been 
loss-making for some time or due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit streams of the companies in which the losses 
arose and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

at 31 december 2007, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2006: nil) for taxes that would be payable 
on the unremitted earnings of certain of the group’s subsidiaries, as the group had no liability to additional tax should such 
amounts be remitted.

there are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the company to its shareholders.
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29. sHARe CApiTAL

shares

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

authorised:
 1,000,000,000 (2006: 1,000,000,000)
  ordinary shares of hK$0.10 each 100,000  100,000    

issued and fully paid:
 263,396,198 (2006: 265,612,198)
  ordinary shares of hK$0.10 each 26,340  26,561    

a summary of the movements of the company’s issued ordinary share capital and share premium account is as follows:

  number    share
  of shares  issued  premium
ordinary shares notes in issue  capital  account  Total
    hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000

at 1 January 2006  269,502,198  26,950  237,310  264,260
repurchase of shares (a) (3,890,000 ) (389 ) –  (389 )       

at 31 december 2006 and at
 1 January 2007  265,612,198  26,561  237,310  263,871
repurchase of shares (b) (2,354,000 ) (235 ) –  (235 )
share options exercised (c) 138,000  14  142  156       

at 31 december 2007  263,396,198  26,340  237,452  263,792       
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29. sHARe CApiTAL (ConTinUeD)

notes:

(a) during the year ended 31 december 2006, the company repurchased its own ordinary shares on the stock exchange 
of hong Kong limited (the “stock exchange”) as follows:

  number  Highest  Lowest
  of shares  price paid  price paid  Aggregate
month/year  repurchased  per share  per share  price paid
    hK$  hK$  hK$’000

november 2006  1,128,000  0.70  0.69  789
december 2006  2,762,000  0.80  0.70  2,110       

  3,890,000      2,899       

the repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly, the issued share capital of the company was reduced by the 
nominal value of these shares. the premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of hK$2,510,000 was charged to the 
contributed surplus.

(b) during the year ended 31 december 2007, the company repurchased its own ordinary shares on the stock exchange as 
follows:

  number  Highest  Lowest
  of shares  price paid  price paid  Aggregate
month/year  repurchased  per share  per share  price paid
    hK$  hK$  hK$’000

January 2007 638,000  0.80  0.78  506
October 2007 722,000  1.02  0.95  710
november 2007 994,000  1.01  0.92  994       

 2,354,000      2,210       

the repurchased shares were cancelled and accordingly, the issued share capital of the company was reduced by the 
nominal value of these shares. the premium paid on the repurchase of the shares of hK$1,975,000 was charged to the 
contributed surplus.

(c) the subscription rights attaching to 138,000 share options were exercised at the subscription price of hK$1.128 per 
share (note 30), resulting in the issue of 138,000 ordinary shares of hK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration, before 
expenses, of approximately hK$156,000.

share options
details of the company’s share option schemes and the share options issued under the schemes are included in note 30 to 
the financial statements.
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30. sHARe opTion sCHemes

the company operates two share option schemes for the primary purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible 
participants who contribute to the success of the group’s operations. the share option schemes entitle the holders of share 
options granted under the schemes to subscribe for ordinary shares of the company at any time during the exercisable 
periods of the options. share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

(a) share option scheme adopted in 1998

On 29 april 1998, the company adopted a share option scheme (the “1998 scheme”). eligible participants of the 1998 
scheme are the group’s employees including the company’s executive directors. the 1998 scheme became effective 
on 29 april 1998 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

the maximum number of shares issuable under unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under 
the 1998 scheme may not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the company at the time of granting the options, 
without taking into account any shares issued and allotted pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the 1998 
scheme. the maximum number of shares issuable under share options granted to any eligible individual participant in 
the 1998 scheme shall not exceed 25% of the issuable shares under the 1998 scheme.

the offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal 
consideration of hK$10 in total by the grantee. the exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by the 
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than six years from the 
date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 1998 scheme, whichever is earlier.

the exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) 80% 
of the average closing price of the company’s shares on the stock exchange for the five trading days immediately 
preceding the date of offer; and (ii) the nominal value of the shares.

the company has not adopted the amendments made by chapter 17 of the listing rules on share Option schemes 
(the “chapter 17 amendments”), which came into effect on 1 september 2001, for the 1998 scheme. accordingly, 
the group has not granted any options under the 1998 scheme since 1 september 2001. the share options which has 
been granted under the 1998 scheme but remain unexercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance 
with their terms of issue and the rules of the 1998 scheme.

(b) share option scheme adopted in 2002

to comply with the chapter 17 amendments, the company adopted a new share option scheme in 2002 (the “2002 
scheme”). eligible participants of the 2002 scheme include the company’s directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers of the group, 
the company’s shareholders, and any minority shareholder in the company’s subsidiaries. the 2002 scheme became 
effective on 30 may 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

the maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the 2002 scheme is 
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the company in issue at any time. the maximum 
number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the 2002 scheme within any 12-month 
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the company in issue at any time. any further grant of share options in excess of 
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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30. sHARe opTion sCHemes (ConTinUeD)

(b) share option scheme adopted in 2002 (continued)

share options granted to a director, chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the company, or to any of 
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. in addition, any share 
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the company, or to any of their 
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on 
the price of the company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of hK$5.0 million, within any 12-month period, are 
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

the offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a 
nominal consideration of hK$1 in total by the grantee. the exercise period of the share options granted is determinable 
by the directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from 
the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2002 scheme, whichever is earlier.

the exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the stock 
exchange closing price of the company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the average stock 
exchange closing price of the company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer.

the following share options were outstanding under the 1998 scheme and the 2002 scheme (collectively referred to as the 
“schemes”) during the year:

 2007 2006
 Weighted    Weighted
 average  number  average  number
 exercise price  of options  exercise price  of options
 HK$  ’000  hK$  ’000
 per share    per share

at 1 January 1.128  2,456  1.289  3,244
forfeited during the year –  –  1.128  (344 )
exercised during the year 1.128  (138 ) –  –
expired during the year –  –  2.302  (444 )       

at 31 december 1.128  2,318  1.128  2,456       

the weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was hK$1.3.
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30. sHARe opTion sCHemes (ConTinUeD)

the exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at that balance sheet date are as follows:

2007
 number of options  exercise price * exercise period
 ’000  hK$
   per share

 2,318  1.128  1-3-05 to 31-8-09

2006
 number of options  exercise price * exercise period
 ’000  hK$
   per share

 2,456  1.128  1-3-05 to 31-8-09

* the exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar 
changes in the company’s share capital.

no share options were granted under the schemes since 2005. the fair value of the share options granted under the 2002 
scheme during the year ended 31 december 2004 was hK$1,256,000.

the fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year ended 31 december 2004 was estimated as at the date 
of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. the 
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

dividend yield (%) –
expected volatility (%) 36.54
historical volatility (%) 36.54
risk-free interest rate (%) 4.13
expected life of options (years) 5
Weighted average share price (hK$) 1.10

the expected life of the options is based on the historical data over the past year and is not necessarily indicative of the 
exercise patterns that may occur. the expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of 
future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

no other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

at the balance sheet date, the company had 2,318,000 share options outstanding under the schemes. the exercise in full 
of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the company, result in the issue of 2,318,000 
additional ordinary shares of the company and additional share capital of approximately hK$232,000 and share premium of 
approximately hK$2,383,000 (before issue expenses).

at the date of approval of these financial statements, the company had 2,318,000 share options outstanding under the 
schemes, which represented approximately 0.9% of the company’s ordinary shares in issue at that date.
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31. ReseRVes

(a) group

the amounts of the group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 29 to 30 of the financial statements.

the group’s contributed surplus originally represented the excess of the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries 
acquired at the date of their acquisition pursuant to the group reorganisation on 29 april 1998, over the nominal value 
of the company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

pursuant to the relevant prc laws and regulations for wholly-foreign-owned enterprises, a portion of the profits of 
subsidiaries of the company, which are established in the prc, is required to be transferred to the reserve funds which 
are restricted as to use. the subsidiaries are not required to effect any further transfer when the amount of the reserve 
funds reaches 50% of its registered capital.

the group’s goodwill reserve represents goodwill which arose on the acquisition of certain subsidiaries in prior years 
and remains eliminated against consolidated reserves, as explained in note 15 to the financial statements.

(b) company
  share    share
  premium  Contributed  option  Retained
 notes account  surplus  reserve  profits  Total
  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000

at 1 January 2006  237,310  41,349  1,144  8,877  288,680

repurchase of shares 29 –  (2,510 ) –  –  (2,510 )
loss for the year  –  –  –  (784 ) (784 )
proposed final 2006 dividend 11 –  (7,950 ) –  –  (7,950 )          
at 31 december 2006 and at
 1 January 2007  237,310  30,889  1,144  8,093  277,436

repurchase of shares 29 –  (1,975 ) –  –  (1,975 )
profit for the year  –  –  –  9,257  9,257
share options exercised 29 142  –  –  –  142
proposed final 2007 dividend 11 –  –  –  (15,804 ) (15,804 )          
at 31 december 2007  237,452  28,914  1,144  1,546  269,056          

the company’s contributed surplus originally represented the excess of the aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries 
acquired at the date of their acquisition pursuant to the group reorganisation on 29 april 1998, over the nominal value 
of the company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

under the bermuda companies act 1981, a company may make distributions to its members out of the contributed 
surplus in certain circumstances.



   Computer And Technologies Holdings Limited    Annual Report 2007

noTes To finAnCiAL sTATemenTs
31 december 2007

��

32. BUsiness ComBinATion

On 24 november 2006, computer and technologies solutions (bvi) limited (“ctsl”), an indirect subsidiary of the company, 
acquired the entire issued share capital of Waywin limited (the “acquisition”) at an initial cash consideration of approximately 
hK$2,355,000 and subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions as described below, an additional consideration not 
exceeding hK$4,675,000 (the “additional consideration”).

Waywin limited is incorporated in the british virgin islands and primarily engages in investment holding. Waywin limited has 
an interest of 99.993% of the issued share capital of y&a professional services limited (“y&a”). y&a is incorporated in hong 
Kong and principally engages in the provision of information technology solutions and consultancy services in hong Kong.

the consideration for the acquisition has been mutually agreed between the parties taking into consideration of the net asset 
value and the on-hand contracts together with the existing customer base of y&a as at 30 september 2006.

the additional consideration should be calculated with reference to the net asset value as reported in the audited financial 
statements of y&a for the year ended 30 June 2007 (the “2007 audited accounts”) and the audited profit after tax as 
reported in the 2007 audited accounts but before any provision and/or write-off against amounts due from affiliated 
companies of y&a. the additional consideration is payable in two parts, hereinafter referred to as the “part One sum” and 
the “part two sum”, which should be subject to maximum amounts of hK$675,000 and hK$4,000,000, respectively.

the payment of the part One sum should be subject to (a) all accounts receivable recorded in the 2007 audited accounts 
should have been collected within one month after the date of issuance of the 2007 audited accounts; and (b) all members 
of the key management of y&a should remain employed by y&a or the group on the 45th day following the date of issuance 
of the 2007 audited accounts and none of them should have committed any breach of their respective service agreements.

the part two sum should be deemed satisfied by ctsl, at its sole discretion, by either (i) paying cash to the vendors or (ii) 
transferring to the vendors 4,000 shares in Waywin limited at no cost. in the event ctsl exercised its discretion to satisfy the 
part two sum by transferring to the vendors 4,000 shares in Waywin limited, the group would have an interest of 60% of the 
issued share capital of Waywin limited.

further details of the acquisition are also set out in a circular of the company dated 18 november 2006.

at 31 december 2006, based on an estimate of the expected profit of y&a (before any provision and/on write-off against 
amounts due from affiliated companies) for the year then ended 30 June 2007, the directors of the company estimated the 
additional consideration to be approximately hK$1,715,000, resulting in a provisional cost of the business combination of 
approximately hK$4,150,000 (including incidental costs of acquisition of approximately hK$80,000), which might change 
upon the finalisation of the additional consideration.

during the year, upon the finalisation of the 2007 audited accounts, the additional consideration was determined to be 
hK$3,628,000 and, accordingly, the total cost of the acquisition should be adjusted to hK$6,063,000, and an additional 
cash consideration of approximately hK$1,913,000 was paid during the current year in connection with the acquisition.
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32. BUsiness ComBinATion (ConTinUeD)

the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Waywin group as at the date of acquisition and the corresponding 
carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were as follows:

  fair value  previous
  recognised  carrying
 notes on acquisition * amount
  hK$’000  hK$’000

property, plant and equipment 13 296  296
trade receivables  2,400  2,400
prepayments, deposits and other receivables  688  688
tax recoverable  122  122
cash and cash equivalents  1,549  1,549
Other payables and accruals  (806 ) (806 )
deferred income  (209 ) (209 )   
  4,040  4,040   
goodwill on acquisition* 15 2,023   
total cost of the business combination*  6,063   
satisfied by:
 cash  5,983
 incidental costs on acquisition  80   
total cost of the business combination  6,063   

* at 31 december 2006, the allocation of the cost of the business combination to the identifiable assets was still preliminary pending the finalisation of the 
additional consideration as further detailed above and the completion of the appraisal of certain assets of y&a at the date of acquisition and, accordingly, 
the goodwill on acquisition of the Waywin group was then determined on a provisional basis to be approximately hK$110,000. during the current year, 
the additional consideration was determined to be hK$3,628,000 upon the finalisation of the 2007 audited accounts, resulting in a total cost of the 
acquisition of hK$6,063,000, the appraisal was finalised and the goodwill arising on the acquisition has been adjusted to hK$2,023,000.

an analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

cash consideration, plus incidental costs on acquisition paid (1,715 ) (2,435 )
cash and bank balances acquired –  1,549
additional cash consideration paid (note 15) (1,913 ) –    
net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition (3,628 ) (886 )    

since its acquisition, the Waywin group contributed hK$768,000 to the group’s revenue and hK$53,000 to the group’s 
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 december 2006.

had the acquisition taken place at the beginning of the year ended 31 december 2006, the revenue from continuing 
operations of the group and the profit of the group for the year ended 31 december 2006 would have been approximately 
hK$248,572,000 and hK$12,485,000, respectively.
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33. opeRATinG LeAse ARRAnGemenTs

(a) As lessor
the group leases its investment properties (note 14) under operating lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for 
terms ranging from one to five years. the terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits 
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.

at 31 december 2007, the group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases 
with its tenants falling due as follows:

 Group
 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

Within one year 1,200  1,291
in the second to fifth years, inclusive 800  –    

 2,000  1,291    

(b) As lessee
the group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements. leases for properties are 
negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years.

at 31 december 2007, the group and the company had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases falling due as follows:

 Group Company
 2007  2006  2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000  HK$’000  hK$’000

Within one year 6,624  5,105  2,694  2,594
in the second to fifth years, inclusive 3,347  9,338  1,396  4,090       

 9,971  14,443  4,090  6,684       
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34. ConTinGenT LiABiLiTies

at the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

(a) as at 31 december 2007, guarantees were given to certain banks by the company for performance bonds/guarantees 
issued by the banks in relation to service contracts undertaken by the group amounting to hK$30,514,000 (2006: 
hK$45,036,000) of which hK$4,609,000 (2006: hK$12,360,000) had been utilised.

(b) the company issued corporate guarantees to certain suppliers of the group in connection with certain purchases from 
those suppliers. as at 31 december 2007, the outstanding amounts due to those suppliers by the group amounted to 
hK$1,203,000 (2006: hK$1,788,000).

35. ReLATeD pARTY TRAnsACTions

in addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the group had the following 
material transactions with related parties during the year:

compensation of key management personnel of the group:

 2007  2006
 HK$’000  hK$’000

short term employee benefits 8,855  8,619
post-employment benefits 97  103    

total compensation paid to key management personnel 8,952  8,722    

further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 7 to the financial statements.
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36. finAnCiAL insTRUmenTs BY CATeGoRY

the carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

2007 group

financial assets

 financial assets
 at fair value through      Available-
 profit or loss  Held-to-    for-sale
 – held for  maturity  Loans and  financial
 trading  investments  receivables  assets  Total
 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

available-for-sale investments –  –  –  2,587  2,587
held-to-maturity securities –  1,265  –  –  1,265
trade receivables –  –  82,887  –  82,887
due from contract customers –  –  24,397  –  24,397
financial assets included
 in prepayments, deposits 
 and other receivables –  –  3,244  –  3,244
equity investments at fair value
 through profit or loss 5,710  –  –  –  5,710
pledged bank deposits –  –  16,677  –  16,677
cash and cash equivalents –  –  190,348  –  190,348
         

 5,710  1,265  317,553  2,587  327,115
         

financial liabilities group

 financial
 liabilities at
 amortised
 cost
 HK$'000

trade payables 37,699
Other payables 13,862
financial liabilities included in accruals 12,729
due to a director 2,150
 
 66,440
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36. finAnCiAL insTRUmenTs BY CATeGoRY (ConTinUeD)

the carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (continued):

2006 group

financial assets

 financial assets
 at fair value through      available-
 profit or loss  held-to-    for-sale
 – held for  maturity  loans and  financial
 trading  investments  receivables  assets  total
 hK$'000  hK$'000  hK$'000  hK$'000  hK$'000

available-for-sale investments –  –  –  1,796  1,796
held-to-maturity securities –  1,265  –  –  1,265
trade receivables –  –  45,180  –  45,180
due from contract customers –  –  59,052  –  59,052
financial assets included
 in prepayments, deposits 
 and other receivables –  –  4,359  –  4,359
equity investments at fair value
 through profit or loss 5,968  –  –  –  5,968
pledged bank deposits –  –  11,676  –  11,676
cash and cash equivalents –  –  163,822  –  163,822
         

 5,968  1,265  284,089  1,796  293,118
         

financial liabilities group

 financial
 liabilities at
 amortised
 cost
 hK$'000

trade payables 24,042
Other payables 17,429
financial liabilities included in accruals 8,932
due to a director 2,150
 
 52,553
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36. finAnCiAL insTRUmenTs BY CATeGoRY (ConTinUeD)

the carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows (continued):

financial assets

 Company
 Loans and receivables
 2007  2006
 HK$'000  hK$'000

cash and cash equivalents 372  160    

financial liabilities

 Company
 financial liabilities
 at amortised cost
 2007  2006
 HK$'000  hK$'000

Other payables 207  54
accruals 20  20    

 227  74    
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37. finAnCiAL RisK mAnAGemenT oBjeCTiVes AnD poLiCies

the group’s principal financial instruments include pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. the main purpose 
of these financial instruments is to finance for the group’s operations. the group has various other financial assets and 
liabilities such as trade and other receivables, amounts due from contract customers, trade and other payables, accruals, 
an amount due to a director, equity investments at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments, which 
mainly arise directly from its operations.

the main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and price 
risk.

the board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

the group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the group’s cash at banks and time 
deposits with a floating interest rate.

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, of the group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate deposits).

 group
   increase/
 increase/  (decrease)
 (decrease) in  in profit
 basis points  before tax
   hK$’000

2007

hong Kong dollar (25 ) (257 )
united states dollar (25 ) (108 )
renminbi (25 ) (105 )

hong Kong dollar 25  257
united states dollar 25  108
renminbi 25  105
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37. finAnCiAL RisK mAnAGemenT oBjeCTiVes AnD poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

 group
   increase/
 increase/  (decrease)
 (decrease) in  in profit
 basis points  before tax
   hK$’000

2006

hong Kong dollar (25 ) (219 )
united states dollar (25 ) (120 )
renminbi (25 ) (90 )

hong Kong dollar 25  219
united states dollar 25  120
renminbi 25  90

Foreign currency risk

the group has transactional currency exposures. such exposures mainly arise from revenue generated or costs and expenses 
incurred by operating units in currencies other than the units’ functional currency. approximately 11.8% (2006: 12.2%) of 
the group’s revenue is denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operating units generating the 
revenue, whilst almost 47.2% (2006: 50.3%) of costs and expenses are denominated in the units’ functional currency. the 
group takes rolling forecast on the foreign currency revenue and costs and expenses and matches the currency and the 
amount incurred, so as to alleviate the impact on business due to exchange rate fluctuations.

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the balance sheet date to a reasonably possible change in the united states 
dollar and rmb exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the 
fair value of monetary assets and liabilities). there is no material impact on other components of the group’s equity.
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37. finAnCiAL RisK mAnAGemenT oBjeCTiVes AnD poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

 increase/  increase/
 (decrease) in  (decrease)
 exchange  in profit
 rate  before tax
 %  hK$’000

2007

if hong Kong dollar weakens against united states dollar 5  1,437
if hong Kong dollar weakens against renminbi 5  5,491
if hong Kong dollar strengthens against united states dollar (5 ) (1,437 )
if hong Kong dollar strengthens against renminbi (5 ) (5,491 )

2006

if hong Kong dollar weakens against united states dollar 5  2,713
if hong Kong dollar weakens against renminbi 5  2,493
if hong Kong dollar strengthens against united states dollar (5 ) (2,713 )
if hong Kong dollar strengthens against renminbi (5 ) (2,493 )

Credit risk

the group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised and creditworthy third parties. it is the group’s policy that most 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are to certain extent subject to certain credit verification procedures. in addition, 
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

the credit risk of the group’s other financial assets, which comprise pledged bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, held-
to-maturity securities, available-for-sale investments and other receivables mainly arises from default of the counterparty, with 
a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

since the group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for 
collateral.

at the balance sheet date, the group has certain concentration of credit risk as 15.2% (2006: 40.6%) of the total trade 
receivables and amounts due from contract customers of the group were due from certain departments/units of the 
government of the hKsar. save as the above, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk at the balance sheet 
date.

further quantitative data in respect of the group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and amounts due 
from contract customers are disclosed in notes 21 and 23 to the financial statements, respectively.
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37. finAnCiAL RisK mAnAGemenT oBjeCTiVes AnD poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

Equity price risk

equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices 
and the value of individual securities. the group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity investments 
classified as equity investments at fair value through profit or loss (note 24) and available-for-sale investments (note 19) as at 
31 december 2007. the group’s listed investments are listed on the stock exchange and are valued at quoted market prices 
at the balance sheet date.

the following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 10% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all 
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the balance sheet date. for 
the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale 
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors such as impairment which might impact on the income 
statement.

   increase/
 Carrying amount  decrease  increase/
 of equity  in profit  decrease
 investments  before tax  in equity
 hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000

2007

investments listed in:
 hong Kong – equity investments at fair value 5,710  570  –

unlisted equity investments at fair value
 – available-for-sale 537  –  54

2006

investments listed in:
 hong Kong – equity investments at fair value 5,968  597  –

unlisted equity investments at fair value
 – available-for-sale 616  –  62

Debenture price risk

the group has a club debenture investment in hong Kong. the fair value of the club debenture investment is affected by 
market forces and other factors. the group holds it for non-trading purpose.
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37. finAnCiAL RisK mAnAGemenT oBjeCTiVes AnD poLiCies (ConTinUeD)

Capital management

the primary objective of the group's capital management is to safeguard the group's ability to continue as a going concern 
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

the group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. the group is not subject to 
any externally imposed capital requirements. no changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 december 2007 and 2006.

capital of the group comprises all components of shareholders’ equity.

38. fAiR VALUes of finAnCiAL AsseTs AnD LiABiLiTies

as at the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of the group’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximated to their 
fair values.

39. CompARATiVe AmoUnTs

certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. the directors consider that 
such reclassifications will allow a more appropriate presentation of the group’s state of affairs and better reflect the nature of 
the transactions.

40. AppRoVAL of THe finAnCiAL sTATemenTs

the financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15 april 2008.
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pARTiCULAR of pRopeRTies
31 december 2007

investment properties

     Attributable
     interest of
Location  Use Tenure the Group

1. units 1, 2 and 3 on 11th floor industrial long term lease 100%
Westlands centre  
no. 20 Westlands road
Quarry bay
hong Kong

2. unit no. e on level 12 and commercial long term lease 100%
car parking space no. 44  
Jinming building
no. 8 zunyi south road
changning district
shanghai
the people’s republic of china (the “prc”)

3. unit no. a1 on level 21 commercial long term lease 100%
golden eagle international plaza  
no. 89 hanzhong road
Jianye district
nanjing
Jiangsu province
prc

4. unit no. 2601 on level 26 commercial medium term lease 100%
south tower  
guangzhou World trade centre complex  
nos. 371-375 huanshi east road
dongshan district
guangzhou
guangdong province
prc

5. factory unit c on 9th floor industrial medium term lease 100%
yally industrial building  
no. 6 yip fat street
aberdeen,
hong Kong

6. unit no. 709 on level 7 commercial medium term lease 100%
 tower a (also known as tower 1)
 vantone new World plaza
 no. 2 fuchengmenwai street
 Xicheng district
 beijing
 prc  
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fiVe YeAR finAnCiAL sUmmARY

a summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority interests of the group for the last five financial years, as extracted 
from the published audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

ResULTs

 Year ended 31 December
 2007  2006  2005  2004  2003
 HK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000

revenue 358,738  237,362  212,874  251,800  362,136

cost of sales (250,268 ) (152,930 ) (133,988 ) (188,257 ) (286,076 )          

gross profit 108,470  84,432  78,886  63,543  76,060

Other income and gains 18,549  15,784  8,281  7,430  7,766
selling and distribution costs (42,780 ) (40,275 ) (36,229 ) (40,724 ) (39,992 )
general and administrative expenses (47,685 ) (40,915 ) (40,747 ) (40,644 ) (35,926 )
Other expenses, net (7,705 ) (5,246 ) (2,469 ) (3,671 ) (1,879 )
finance costs –  –  (17 ) (875 ) (359 )          

prOfit/(lOss) befOre taX 28,849  13,780  7,705  (14,941 ) 5,670
tax (878 ) (1,933 ) (232 ) 1,460  663          

prOfit/(lOss) fOr the year 27,971  11,847  7,473  (13,481 ) 6,333          

attributable to:
 equity holders of the parent 28,142  12,408  8,011  (13,520 ) 6,066
 minority interests (171 ) (561 ) (538 ) 39  267          

 27,971  11,847  7,473  (13,481 ) 6,333          

AsseTs, LiABiLiTies AnD minoRiTY inTeResTs

 As at 31 December
 2007  2006  2005  2004  2003
 HK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000  hK$’000

tOtal assets 414,176  372,916  378,851  393,071  434,141

tOtal liabilities (84,881 ) (63,302 ) (71,687 ) (88,948 ) (117,586 )

minOrity interests (879 ) (1,057 ) (1,070 ) (1,609 ) (1,542 )          

 328,416  308,557  306,094  302,514  315,013          
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